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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG
KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
midsized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may
be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of
the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of New Western Group
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein
or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERMES

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of New Western Group
Limited (the “Company”), | hereby present the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2019.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND
DEVELOPMENT

The recent outbreak of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) has undoubtedly
presented difficult challenges to the business environment of the Group in
all business sectors. Nevertheless, with the signing of the first-phase trade
agreement between China and the United States, the tensions resulting from
the Sino-US trade situation and the external economic conditions are likely to
be alleviated. As the Group expects challenging business prospects in 2020,
it will strive to maintain a cost-effective operation.

During the year under review, due to Sino-US trade conflicts, downstream
buyers of the IC industry became more prudent in procurement, market
demand for standard ICs and ASIC ICs thus experienced relatively higher
volatility. As a result, the overall market price of IC products gradually fell
from their relatively higher levels in the year of 2019. This market condition
inevitably exerted pressure on gross profit and affected the profit margins of
the IC Segment. In face of the unfavorable market environment in integrated
circuit (“IC”) segment, the Group recorded a decrease in its overall revenue,
driven by the decrease in the provision of tailor-made ASIC services and
products. The Group is going to perform more persuasive research and
development activities to retain and substain its IC products. A number of
new |ICs were introduced in 2018 to enrich the product portfolio of the Group,
especially in ASIC power management IC and ASIC Motor Driver IC. As at
31 December 2019, the Group had 10 new IC models under development
and customer evaluation, but 2 IC model had been terminated. Certain
customers took prudent view in project investment and extended the process
of evaluation, acceptance and modification, and the completion time of
development was prolonged as a result.

In view of the market competition of the money lending business which
remains fierce, loans receivables of the Group increased from approximately
HK$98.7 million in December 2018 to approximately HK$153.1 million (before
impairment loss on loan receivables) in December 2019. Looking forward,
the Group will continue to focus on high net worth customers to minimize the
overall credit risk.

5 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019

AABREFTHTEBEERERAR(ARRDE
Fe([ZFg]) ERARALEWNBRAR(5HHE
[AREE|)EZE2019F12 A31 B ILEEHELR o

ERRIREARR

BABENTRESRHCO19ERRER) BRS
AEBEBEXEBRAENERRETRERER - A
- BEEFEMBEAREE —BREZHE
TXESGWEUEIBERERENBHEREE
0 o FAHI20204F KK H5 A S A5 FEm KB - AR E
IS REZLIRIE TR TR &

REEFE  STPEZFERTE  SREKT
ETHERNRENAEBRE  ZEEKER
MASICEKERKM TSR KEAMABHRS AR
B o At - EREREREEMEINHER2019
FREBRSAKEZE T - Z2migeyTH
ERBHWEEERNBEESBOFBEE - @HE
(BB ([ERER D DB THMBERE A%
EREBMASZS TR  WHAEEMRENE
HETEASICIRS R E IR DT - NEEIEE
TEZREMELHAL  URBREFHERS
HERBMREZEZ T BFITRR2018F 5| A—
RIHERNERER  SASENEMELEEY
E BRI EASICEREEE K B IR RASICE # iR
B ERER - 2019912 A31H » KEEAB10
MEMEP REREFTEEENFTSRERS
¥ BERIFESKERIS - B TEFYHIER
BEBFHEEREREWERTE - BBRIEXRNGB
2 AMSFAENTAREETE -

ERREEBNMSRFDATEZ - A5E
RIFEU B FR 20184512 A RI4198.7 B B & T hn
ZE2019F 12 AMAI153. 1B BB TCRFTERER
BERER) - RERK - NEEBEEZ INE
FEREPUNFEREEFERBEIME



As a result of the continuing business operation of property management
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), it had recorded a
segment profit for the year of the year of 2019. Further details of the Group’s
performance, financial position and other information for the year 2019
with shareholders can be found in the following section of “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and all board committees have effectively supported the Board in
carrying out its responsibilities. The Board will persist to explore new business
opportunity to maximize the long term interest for the shareholders as a
whole.

PROSPECTS

Due to various factors including the continued trade dispute between the
US and China as well as social unrest in Hong Kong during the second half
of 2019, Hong Kong’s economy experienced negative growth and the IC
market was affected. In early 2020, the outbreak of coronavirus disease
(COVID-19) together with the challenges posed by the social events in Hong
Kong in the past months mean a double blow to the Hong Kong economy
and further contribute to a downward trend in the IC market. Despite the
above uncertainties, the Group remains preservative about the IC market due
to Hong Kong’s as well as PRC’s economic base.

APPRECIATION

The Board is deeply shocked and saddened by the passing of Mr. Lau Mo,
the former executive Director, on 21 December 2019. With this tragic event
the Group loses not only its good adviser, but also a friend to all colleagues
and business partners. The management and staff will always remember and
thank Mr. Lau for his enormous contributions to the Group.

On a separate note, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
thanks to the valuable contribution from the management team. | would also
like to express my gratitude to all staff for their hard work in the execution of
the Group’s strategies and operations during the past year. Last but not least,
I wish to thank all shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners and
bankers for their continuous support and confidence in the Group.

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN WD

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the principal activities of the
Group are: (1) the provision of IC solutions and the design, development and
sales of ICs; (2) money lending business in Hong Kong through the provision
of unsecured and secured loans to customers, including individuals and
corporations under the provisions of the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter
163 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and (3) the provision of investment and
planning consulting service, real estate agent, property management services
and car parking management services in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Continuing Operations

IC Business

The Group sells IC under its own brand name “MiniLogic” and provides
application specific IC service (the “ASIC Service”) in the design and
development of tailor-made IC to its customers. The Group also provides
tailor-made IC solutions and sells tailor-made ICs to customers under the
ASIC Service business section (the “ASIC Section”); and independently
develops and sells generically-applicable ICs for sale in the market under the
MiniLogic Brand IC business section (the “Standard IC Section”).

Over the past year, the research and development (the “R&D”) team
completed and launched 8 new models included 1 Standard LCD Driver IC,
5 ASIC Power Management ICs, 1 ASIC Motor Driver and 1 ASIC general
function in Electronic Toothbrush.

The R&D team terminated 2 IC models during the year. As at 31 December
2019, the Group had 10 new IC models under development and customer
evaluation. The completion of the development of several new IC models has
been extended as the process was prolonged due to customer evaluation,
acceptance and modification work. Developing IC products with suitable
technology that appeal to the market is essential for the growth of IC
business. This can also expand the range of the IC products and maintain the
competitiveness of the Group.

ASIC Section

Under the ASIC Section, the major products are DVD Player ICs, Power
Management ICs and Electronic Cigarette ICs. 7 new IC models were
launched in 2019. Due to the stagnant demand in the IC industry, revenue
and margin from DVD Player ICs, Power Management ICs and Electronic
Cigarettes ICs decreased when compared to the same period last year.
Revenue from the ASIC products decreased from approximately HK$9.8
million for the year of 2018 to approximately HK$3.4 million for the year of
2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

At the same time, revenue from the provision of ASIC Service decreased
significantly from approximately HK$2.6 million in 2018 to approximately
HK$0.5 million in 2019. Due to the decrease in revenue from the ASIC
products, particularly in DVD Player ICs, Power Management ICs and
Electronic Cigarettes ICs, the overall revenue from the ASIC Section dropped
by 69.0% from approximately HK$12.4 million in 2018 to approximately
HK$3.8 million in 2019.

Standard IC Section

Under the Standard IC Section, the major products are LCD Driver ICs for
instrument panel and Power Management ICs. 1 new IC model was launched
in 2019. The overall revenue from the Standard IC Section decreased by
16.8% from approximately HK$4.2 million in 2018 to approximately HK$3.5
million in 2019.

Money Lending Business

The Group engages in the money lending business, such as providing
secured and unsecured loans to customers comprising individuals and
corporations to earn interest income. The revenue from the money lending
business for the year 2019 was approximately HK$19.1 million, which
accounted for 30.6% of the Group’s total revenue for the year. There was a
decrease of approximately HK$1.3 million or 6.5% as compared to that of
approximately HK$20.4 million for the year 2018. The outstanding principal
amount of loan receivables as at 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$153.1 million. The slightly decrease in revenue was mainly attributable to
the decrease in average interest rate in the money lending business. While
the loans and interest receivables balance (before impairment loss on loan
receivables) increased by approximately 55.1% to approximately HK$153.1
million for the year 2019 as compared to approximately HK$98.7 million for
the year 2018.

Impairment Loss on Loan Receivables
The Group’s impairment loss mainly relates to expected credit loss allowance
for loan receivables.

For the year of 2019, the Group recorded an impairment loss on loan
receivables of approximately HK$30.2 million as compared to HK$ Nil for
2018. The significant increase in impairment loss on loan receivables is
principally due to an increase in loan receivables which have indication of
impairment.

Property Management Business in the PRC
The Group has entered into the property management industry in the PRC
since January 2017 and provides a broad range of property management
services to property developers and property owners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEN W& DN (&)

Property Management Services

The revenue of this business segment is generated through provision of
property management services to property owners and residents such
as predelivery services, move-in assistance services, security, cleaning,
gardening, repair and maintenance. The revenue of this segment slightly
decreased by 1.4% from approximately HK$29.0 million in 2018 to
approximately HK$28.6 million in 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group managed residential and non-
residential properties with an aggregate contracted gross floor area (“GFA”)
of approximately 57,000 square meters and 155,000 square meters
respectively. By comparison, as at 31 December 2018, the Group managed
residential and non-residential properties with an aggregate contracted
GFA of approximately 57,000 square meters and 155,000 square meters
respectively. The total contracted GFA means the sum of revenue-bearing
GFA, undelivered GFA and common area GFA.

Revenue-bearing GFA represented contracted GFA in relation to which the
collection of property management fees has started when a property has
been delivered or is ready to be delivered. For properties that have been
delivered or are ready to be delivered after delivery notices have been given
to the first group of property owners in such properties, property developers
would pay property management fees on unsold units until such units are
sold.

Undelivered GFA means contracted GFA in relation to which the collection of
property management fees has not started because the relevant property is
not ready to be delivered.

Common area GFA includes pathways, garden, parking lots, and
advertisement bulletin boards.

Property Real Estate Agency Services

The property management team provides property management and real
estate agency services in respect of commercial and residential buildings
in the PRC. The revenue of this segment increased by 92.7% from
approximately HK$1.4 million in 2018 to approximately HK$2.7 million in
2019.

Property Consulting Services

The property management team also provides property management
consultancy services to other property management companies such as
standardised operation, cost control and consultation. The revenue of this
segment decreased by 48.9% from approximately HK$8.8 million in 2018 to
approximately HK$4.5 million in 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Below is an analysis of the key financial indicators including, but not limited
to revenue, cost of sales and services, gross profit and cost to income ratio,
which reflected the financial position of the business.

Revenue, Cost of Sales and Services and Gross
Profit

The total revenue of the Group from continuing operations decreased by
18.3% from approximately HK$76.3 million in 2018 to approximately HK$62.3
million in 2019. The decrease in revenue was mainly attributed to the net
effect of (i) a decrease in revenue from the IC business of approximately
HK$9.2 million as a consequence of the shrinkage in the scale of IC industry;
and (i) a decrease in revenue of approximately HK$4.3 million from property
consulting services as a result of decrease in demand of property consulting
services.

Cost of sales and services of the Group mainly incurred from the IC business
and the property management business amounting to approximately
HK$26.4 million in 2018 to approximately HK$23.2 million in 2019.

The Group’s gross profit margin as a percentage of revenue decreased
from 65.4% for the year 2018 to 62.8% for that of 2019. The Group’s gross
profit for the year 2019 was approximately HK$39.2 million, down from
approximately HK$49.9 million recorded in 2018.

Administrative Expenses and Finance Cost

Staff costs of the Group decreased from approximately HK$20.8 million in
2018 to approximately HK$16.9 million in 2019, which was mainly due to a
decrease in number of staff of the Group.

Depreciation of the Group increased from approximately HK$1.5 million in
2018 to approximately HK$2.5 million in 2019, which was mainly due to the
depreciation on right-of-use assets after the coming into effect of HKFRS 16.

Operating lease rental of the Group decreased from approximately HK$2.5
million in 2018 to approximately HK$0.3 million in 2019, which was mainly
due to the change in accounting policies. Details of changes in accounting
policies are disclosed in Note 2.1.

Administrative expenses of the Group slightly increased from approximately
HK$7.8 million in 2018 to approximately HK$8.0 million in 2019. The increase
was mainly attributable to the increase in spending on expansion and
development of the business, such as legal and professional fee.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEN W& DN (&)

The finance costs of the Group for the year 2019 mainly comprise interest on
the lease liabilities after the coming into effect of HKFRS 16. Finance costs
increased by approximately HK$0.4 million for the year 2019, increased from
HK$Nil as recorded in 2018.

(Loss)/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

The consolidated loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
2019 was approximately HK$18.7 million, down from the consolidated
profit attributable to owners of the Company approximately HK$15.5 million
recorded in 2018. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i) the shrinkage
in the scale of IC industry; (i) a decrease in demand of property consulting
services; and (jii) an increase in allowance of expected credit losses on trade
receivables and loans receivables respectively.

Cost to Income Ratio

The cost to income ratio of the Group (expenses/revenue) was 99.0% in
2019, representing an increase of 51.1 percentage points from 47.9%
in 2018. The increase in its ratio was mainly attributable to the decrease
in revenue generated from the IC business and property management
business and an impairment loss on trade receivables and loan receivables of
approximately HK$31.4 million in aggregation.

RISKS RELATING TO THE GROUP AND ITS
BUSINESS

Reliance on a Few Key Customers

The Group’s ability to maintain close relationships with its customers is
important to its ongoing growth and profitability. Although the Group’s
revenue from specific customers vary from period to period, a significant
portion of the Group’s total revenue was derived from a few major customers
for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the corresponding period in last
year. The five largest customers accounted for approximately 33.0% and
25.0% of the Group’s revenue while the largest customer accounted for
approximately 9.2% and 7.6% of the Group’s revenue for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 respectively. The Group has established its
business relationship with the largest customer, which is an independent third
party (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) principally engaged in property
management and consulting services, since 2017. However, as the Group
does not enter into long term or master services contracts with its major
customers, there is no assurance that they will continue to use the services
from the Group at the same level as they have done in the past. The Group
believes that, it has maintained a close relationship with its major customers
and it is also the Group’s priority to work with reputable customers, which in
turn tend to undertake sizeable projects. Working with these customers can
allow the Group to secure future business opportunities with them and bolster
the Group’s job reference.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Besides that, the Group has no intention to limit itself to serve its major
customers and, with its presence in the industry, the Group believes that it
will be able to extend its services to other customers.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers.

May not be able to grow the Portfolio of Properties as
planned

The Company’s GFA for properties under management remains unchanged
for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019 respectively. The Company
have been expanding its portfolio of properties under management
primarily through tender and new property management engagements from
independent property developers and other property owners. The Company
seeks to continue to grow its portfolio of properties under management.
However, there is no assurance that the Company can grow its portfolio of
properties under management as planned, in such case that may have a
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial performance and
results of operations. The Company’s growth may be affected by various
factors beyond its control, such as China’s general economic condition,
developments in the real estate market, any change in laws and regulation
for the Group’s operation and its ability to obtain sufficient financing for its
growth. In addition, the Company’s ability to grow also depends on the
Company'’s ability to successfully hire, train and retain its employees, manage
its relationships with the Company’s customers, subcontractors and other
suppliers.

In circumstances where the Company expand into a new market or location,
the Company may have limited knowledge of the local property management
service market, which could be substantially different from those in the
Company’s established market in Chengdu Province. In addition, the
Company may not have established relationships or connections with local
subcontractors and other suppliers as it does in its established market in
Chengdu Province. The Company may also be unable to leverage its brand
equity in a new market and may face intense competition from the local
property management companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
EEE WD N (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$42.1 million (31 December 2018: approximately HK$89.8
million) and did not have any borrowings, banking facilities or any loan
arrangement. The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2019 was
1,829% (31 December 2018: 1,424%), reflecting the fact that the liquidity
of the Group remained healthy. The gearing ratio calculated as the ratio of
total interest-bearing debt to total asset was 0.01 as at 31 December 2019
(81 December 2018: Nil). The Group’s financial position is healthy, and that
enables the Group to expand its core business and achieve its business
objectives.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any charges on its assets
(81 December 2018: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s transactions are mainly denominated in United States dollars,
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. Therefore, the Group is exposed to
foreign currency exchange risk. The Group has not implemented any foreign
currency hedging policy at the moment. The Directors are of the view that
the Group’s operating cash flow and liquidity are not subject to significant
foreign exchange rate risks and therefore, no hedging arrangements were
made during the year of 2019. However, the Group will review and monitor
the relevant foreign exchange risk from time to time based on its business
development requirements and may enter into foreign exchange hedging
arrangements when applicable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

Save for those disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities or capital commitment as at 31 December 2019 (31
December 2018: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND
JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS
ZggEl\_II!éTERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL

Save for those disclosed in the paragraph headed “MAJOR TRANSACTION
- ACQUISITION FOR PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS” and
“DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION - ACQUISITION OF 49% EQUITY
INTEREST IN TIAN CHENG INVESTMENT LIMITED” in this report, there were
no significant investments held by the Group as at 31 December 2019, nor
were there other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries by the
Group during the year 2019. Apart from those disclosed in this report, there
was no other plan authorised by the Board for other material investments or
additions of capital assets at the date of this report.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group has approximately 31 (31 December 2018: 46) employees as at
31 December 2019. The remuneration packages of the Group’s employees
include basic salary, allowances, medical schemes, mandatory provident fund
scheme, commission and bonuses. The remuneration policies of the Group,
including promotion, bonus, salary increment and other benefits, are based
on the Group’s operating results, employees’ individual performance, working
experience, respective responsibilities, qualifications and competence, as well
as those benefits comparable to the prevailing market practice, standards
and statistics. The remuneration policies of the Group are reviewed by the
management of the Group regularly.

In addition, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).
In the year of 2019, no options have been granted or agreed to be granted
pursuant to the Scheme and, no options have been exercised, cancelled or
lapsed. As such, there were no outstanding options as at 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil). The Group also provides and arranges on-the-job trainings for the
employees.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established and maintained risk management procedures
to identify and control various types of risk within the organisation and the
external environment with active management participation and effective
internal control procedures in the best interest of the Group and its
shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEN W& DN (&)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has minimised the operation impact on the environment and
natural resource. During 2019, the Group encourages every staff to turn off
the computers, photocopiers and other electronic equipment when they are
off duty or on leave. The Group is going to review the environmental practices
from time to time and will consider measures and practices to enhance the
long term sustainability of the environment.

Detailed discussion of the environmental policies and performance will be
included in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report which will be
separately published within three months after the publication of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance, for instance, the operating
licences may be terminated. The Group has been allocating system and
staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with the applicable rules and
regulations and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators
effectively through effective communications.

During the year under review, to the best of knowledge of the Board, the
Group has complied with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) and the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable rules and regulations.

MAJOR TRANSACTION - ACQUISITION FOR
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS

On 17 October 2019, Chengdu Wanlifeng Investment Co., Ltd.* (“Wanlifeng”),
and, Sichuan Western Asset Management Co., Ltd.* (“Sichuan Western”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the second
memorandum of understanding (the “Second MOU”) in relation to the
acquisition (the “Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Second MOU, a new exclusivity
period of 90 days from 18 October 2019 up to and including 15 January
2020 was granted and during such exclusivity period, Sichuan Western shall
have a sole and exclusive right to conduct due diligence investigation on the
target group and to negotiate with Wanlifeng on the Acquisition with a view to
entering into a definitive and binding agreement in respect of the Acquisition.
The consideration for the Acquisition is expected to be not more than RMB30
million. The actual terms for the Acquisition shall be subject to agreement by
Wanlifeng and Sichuan Western and is to be set out in the formal agreement
to be signed by Wanlifeng and Sichuan Western.

The English translation of names or any descriptions in Chinese which are
marked with “*” is for identification purpose only.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

On 20 November 2019, Sichuan Western, and the vendor, entered into
the acquisition agreement in relation to the sale and purchase of the equity
interests (together with the settlement of the outstanding balance) at a
consideration of RMB25,000,000. Completion of the acquisition agreement
is conditional upon, among others, the conditions precedent as set out in the
acquisition agreement being satisfied.

The target company is principally engaged in the provision of property
management, car park management and related services in the PRC. Up to
the date of this report, the acquisition has not yet been completed pending
for the conditions precedent to be satisfied. Details of the Second MOU for
proposed acquisition and major transaction for Acquisition were disclosed in
the Company’s announcements dated 17 October 2019 and 20 November
2019 and the Company’s circular dated 24 December 2019 respectively.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION -
ACQUISITION OF 49% EQUITY INTEREST IN
TIAN CHENG INVESTMENT LIMITED

Mr. Wong Siu Piu, an individual and an independent third party (the “Vendor”),
entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 16 March 2020 (the “S&P
Agreement”) to sell certain of its shareholdings, being 49% equity interest
in Tian Cheng Investment Limited, to Easy Loan Finance Limited, a limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”). The Vendor, entered into a loan agreement
with the Purchaser on 17 January 2019 as borrower for a loan of HK$30.0
million, details of the loan as set out in the Company’s announcement dated
17 January 2019. Prior to entering into the S&P Agreement, all interest
accrued during the 12-month term of the loan under the loan agreement had
been settled by the Vendor. In addition, on 18 January 2020, the Purchaser
had agreed to waive all interest accrued on the loan balance from 18 January
2020 onwards. As such, the outstanding amount as at the date of the S&P
Agreement was HK$30.0 million, being the principal amount of the loan under
the loan agreement. The consideration under the S&P Agreement was settled
by way of set off against the outstanding amount of HK$30.0 million due and
payable by the Vendor to the Purchaser under the loan agreement.

As it became evident that the Vendor was unable to repay the outstanding
amount under the loan agreement as it fell due, the Board is of the view
that the investment in Chengdu Yihe Tiancheng Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd, through the Target Company presented a good opportunity for the
Group to invest in the real estate development and property sales business
as such business complements the Group’s business in the provision of
investment and planning consulting service, real estate agent, property
management services and car parking management services in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
BEEN W& DN (&)

Up to the date of this report, the acquisition has not yet been completed
pending for the conditions precedent to be satisfied. Details of the loan
agreement and the S&P Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 17 January 2019 and 16 March 2020 respectively.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, certain unfavourable factors such as fluctuation of the global
financial markets and the outbreak of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19)
may exert pressure in Hong Kong in general.

The epidemic has undoubtedly presented difficult challenges to the business
environment of domestic enterprises in virtually all sectors. Nevertheless,
with the signing of the first-phase trade agreement between China and the
United States, the tensions resulting from the Sino-US trade situation and the
external economic conditions are likely to be alleviated. As the Group expects
challenging business prospects in 2020, it will strive to maintain a cost-
effective operation while exploring sources of business growth.

On one hand, supply chain management of construction material have begun
in the fourth quarter of 2019, which effectively contribute to the diversification
of the Group’s business development. However, it is expected that the
internally-developed supply chain management of construction material may
suspend by first quarter of 2020 or mid-2020, depends on the development
of the epidemic. On the other hand, the Group will also continue its dedication
to the property management in PRC.

It has been the Group’s objective to explore possible investment
opportunities, including but not limited into, property investment in overseas,
with an aim to deliver reasonable returns for shareholders. The Directors
considers that the possible acquisition, may or may not enter into, which in
line with the overall business direction of the Group and is a good investment
opportunity to step into the property investment industry in the property
market.

In view of the increased strengthening of the industrial safety and
environmental protection requirements of the PRC government, the Group
will be committed to improving internal control standards, so as to achieve
sustainable development. Moreover, the Group will strive to promote the
concept of green management, and to practice a clean, efficient and low-
carbon development management, in order to be socially responsible through
energy conservation and emission reduction, and deliver sustainable and
promising returns to shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Board is pleased to
present this corporate governance report for the year ended 31 December
2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of corporate
governance. The Board considers that enhanced public accountability and
corporate governance are beneficial for the healthy growth of the Group,
improving customer and supplier confidence and safeguarding the interests
of shareholders of the Group.

The Board has continued to monitor and review the corporate governance
principles and practices to ensure compliance. The Company has adopted
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules as its own code and has complied with the CG
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019, except the following
deviations:

Under code provision A.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the period from 22 May 2019 to 22 January 2020, in light of the resignation
of Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo, Mr. Zhang Qing served as both the chairman
and the chief executive officer. To comply with the code provision, the
Board appointed a new Director on 22 January 2020, Mr. Gan Lin, who also
assumed the role of chief executive officer of the Company therefrom.

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and other
non-executive directors should generally attend general meetings to gain and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

Mr. Ko Yin Wai* (a former independent non-executive Director) was unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 May 2019 as he
was obliged to be away for his business matter.

*

Mr. Ko has retired an independent non-executive Director on 3 May 2019.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rule 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Upon the specific enquiry made to all the Directors, the Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises six directors including two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) and Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer),
one non-executive Director namely Mr. Liu Kam Lung and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Dr. Gao Jinkang. An updated list of Directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are independent non-executive Directors has
been published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange
respectively. The profiles of the Directors are set out in the section “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report. At the date of this
annual report, there is no relationship, including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relation(s) among members of the Board and between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, four regular Board meetings
and four other Board meetings were held in addition to circulation of written
resolution. The attendance record of individual Directors to the Board and the
committee meetings during the year ended 31 December 2019 are shown
below:

BT

EXeRRh A RERAN  BEMENTE
= AREELE (R RERAEGTHAR) -
—HIFNITESE  HEEEAEUAR=RBIF
WITES  IREXELE BARARERSER
Bt &M MHEFEXEREGIRELAEME
BEUR SRR BB IFATESR) 2RI TR
KRR MR - EFNBEFBHNAF
BEZRSRERABNEE |8 o RAFH
BH > EFgl B ZEARARAREERITHAR
B2 BBEEMEAR  SRUE - EB  KEX
HiEAX AARERERE -

HE2019F12AG1ALLFE - REMEmMRER
Sh BT TORESTEER IR RMAEME
EeEE - HE2019F12A31HILEE @ [ERIE
FREFSREECEENLRERHEOT ¢

Attendance record of meetings held in 2019

R2019F RBTHEHILF D&

Annual General Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
REE® RRBFRE g8 ENEEY FHzse REZES
In number In number In number In number In number
(in %) (in %) (in %) (in %) (in %)
R ¥ RE RE RE
(BDL) (BDL) (BDL) (BR) (BR)
Total Number of Meetings 1 8 7 1 1
SENHAY (Note 1)
(P3E1)
Number of Meetings attended/Total
HESBRY B
Executive Directors
HiTES
Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) 1/1 8/8 N/A N/A N/A
RESTE(LE) (100%) (100%) i ek ek
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Note 2) 1/1 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
RiGREL(HE2) (100%) (100%) A A N
Mr. Lau Mo (Note 3) 1/1 6/7 N/A N/A N/A
B (PHFE3) (100%) (87.5%) TEA TEA TEA
Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer) (Note 4) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BRI (TTBAe#,) (HizE4) TiEA TNiEM TiEH TiEm TiEm
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Attendance record of meetings held in 2019

R2019F ABTHEB L ETE
Annual General Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Name of member Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee
RE &R BRRBEARE B8 ENEEY FHEES REZEY
In number In number In number In number In number
(in %) (in %) (in %) (in %) (in %)
RE RE RE RE RE
(Bnt) (Batt) (A7) (A7) (A7)
Non-Executive Director
FHTES
Mr. Liu Kam Lung 11 8/8 N/A N/A N/A
BeiEtkt (100%) (100%) TER TEA TEA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BYEHTES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis 11 8/8 77 11 11
REXSEE (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang 1/1 8/8 77 11 1/1
W RAEE (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Mr. Ko Yin Wai (Note 5) 0/1 2/2 2/2 11 1/1
=B R AE(M5E5) (0%) (100%) (100%) (100%) (100%)
Dr. Gao Jinkang (Note 6) 1/1 6/6 5/5 N/A N/A
=B EELT(K6) (100%) (100%) (100%) TEA TEA
Notes: FI3E -

1. The Board held four regular Board meetings and three other full Board meetings 1. & ZE2019F 12 A31 A ILFERN - HEE BT T
during the year ended 31 December 2019. REBCEHERR-AEMEBEETSESE -

2. Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo resigned as an executive Director and chief executive 2.  FRELIETMN2019F5 A22H BHEHNITE S RITH
officer on 22 May 2019. HH -

3. Mr. Lau Mo passed away on 21 December 2019. 3. BRAENR2019F12 521 HEkt -

4. Mr. Gan Lin was appointed as an executive Director and chief executive officer on 4.  HERFEAENR2020%1 B2 A EZ(E AHITE S RIT
22 January 2020. AL -

5. Mr. Ko Yin Wai has retired as an independent non-executive Director on 3 May 5. S BEE4EN2019F5 AZH BB TIEHITES -
2019.

6.  Dr. Gao Jinkang was elected as an independent non-executive Director in the 6. S&EBELHRARQT 201945 A3H BITHIEA
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 May 2019. FRE FERABIIFNITES -

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD EEENERE

The Board is responsible for the control and leadership of management of the &#F@ B SEEREERNTNEKZER - IR
Company’s business and is collectively responsible for the Company’s affair ZEEE@HIEERERTHFAEERATEE - &
under the Board’s direction and supervision. All the Directors should make B2 B ELAARN T 2 Fzs AkE « BEVELRE o
decision objectively in the interests of the Company.
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The overall responsibilities of the Board include considering and making
decisions on the following matters:

(i)  Setting the corporate goals of the Group and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

(i) Diversification and extension of activities into new business area;
(i)  Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

(iv)  Formulating and implementing dividend policy;

(v)  Formulating and implementing material acquisitions and disposal;
(vi)  Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;
(vii)  Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

(vii) Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND DIVERSITY
POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy since 30 August 2013.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
The composition and diversity policies of the Board is reviewed annually
and regularly. The Board should ensure that its changes in composition will
not result in any undue interference. The Board members should possess
appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness in performing
duties and functions. The Board would diversify its composition according
to the Company’s situations and need. While participating in nomination
and recommendation of director candidates during the year, each member
of the Board may consider a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, or
professional experience in achieving diversity for the benefit of the Company’s
various business development and management. The Board is to review
the policy concerning diversity of Board members, and to disclose the
policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance report,
including any quantitative targets and standards and its progress with policy
implementation.

During the year of 2019, the Board has reviewed the diversity of the Board
and considered the Board composition and diversity policy appropriate.
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The Board will review the policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

¥ EEWmE (&)

EETgHTHEMBRARREFSERN -

An analysis of the board diversity based on a range of diversity perspectives is set out below

Number of Directors/
number of years
(as appropriate) 6

BETCBBAEEELZEEEREZ LA THIIMT

BEBFAHS
FH
(fnjfa)
5
independent
non-
executive
Director
WL
4 FEEAT
%
3
2
1
0
Gender Designation Age Group Directorship with the Directorship with other
B BT Ea4aR Company (number of public companies

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board formulated the nomination policy on 30 January 2019, under the
nomination policy, the Company adopts fair, formal, rigorous and transparent
criteria and procedures for the selection and appointment of new Directors.

Selection Criteria

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) will
recommend, and the Board will approve the appointment or reappointment
of Directors through thorough consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, race, ethnicity, cultural, educational
background, professional experience and length of service.

Also, in making a recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of independent non-executive Directors, the Nomination
Committee shall ensure the proposed independent non-executive Directors
meet the criteria of independence as laid down in the GEM Listing Rules.
In addition, the Nomination Committee specifically considers the time
commitment of the proposed independent non-executive Directors especially
if the proposed independent non-executive Directors will be holding their
seventh (or more) listed issuer directorship. Independent non-executive
Directors sitting on multiple boards will need to ensure they devote sufficient
time to the each board and board committees.

years) (number of companies)
BEXRTES BEAMETARES
(480 (ARIEE)

RABBER

BEERN201951 AR HIFIRAEE  RIFIR
BHE - ARREEBEREANESTRNAFIE
AR BERMIZE NIRRT -
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Procedures for Appointment of New Directors

1.

Before making an appointment, the Nomination Committee assesses
the structure, size and composition of the current Board in order to
consider the range of backgrounds, qualifications, skills, experience,
expertise, knowledge, independence, attributes, diversities and
perspectives of the Board that are required to constitute a balanced
Board to contribute to the decision-making capabilities of the Board to
avoid groupthink and to enhance the effectiveness of the Board so as to
achieve better corporate governance results.

In view of this assessment, the Nomination Committee will draw up
a description of the role and competencies needed. Based on such
description, the Nomination Committee will select from a broad
range of candidates who are in and outside the Board’s circle of
contacts in accordance with the Company’s diversity policy, with a
view to appointing the best-placed individual for the role. During this
process, the Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying suitable candidates, such as by advertising,
referral or through recruitment consultants.

The Nomination Committee will access candidates thoroughly with a
rigorous appraisal of the candidates’ track record and abilities against
the defined selection criteria in view of the Board’s agreed strategies
and objectives to the challenges and opportunities that the Company is
facing.

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the recommendation
to the Board in relation to the proposed appointment. The Nomination
Committee will provide the relevant information of the selected candidate
to the remuneration committee for consideration of remuneration
package of such selected candidate.

Chairman of the Board may perform interview and assess the selected
candidate’s character, integrity, judgement, independence, potential
conflicts of interest and time commitment to the Company. The
candidate may be asked to give presentation on his/her proposals
for the Company’s strategy and his/her visions about the Company’s
future. Chairman of the Board will report to the Board for the approval of
appointment.

If the candidate does not match the Board’s criteria, a new round of
recruitment will take place.
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Procedures for Re-appointment of Directors

1. All Directors should be subject to re-elect at regular interval. Every
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

2. If an independent non-executive Director serves more than nine
years, his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by shareholders. The papers to shareholders
accompanying that resolution should include the reasons why the Board
believe the independent non-executive Director is still independent and
should be re-elected.

3. In re-appointment of Directors, the Board shall follow the same
procedure as the appointment of new Directors, except for the need
to identify suitable candidates. The Board shall especially consider the
independence of the proposed Directors since the independence of
the proposed Directors is likely to diminish over time as the Directors
become familiar with the Company and the executives or the Board.

Objectives

All appointments to the Board are made on merit and within this context, the
Board continues to view diversity in the widest sense, including the global
trend of gender diversity so the Board will consider to increase the number of
women on Board during the nomination process of Directors, with a view to
appointing the best-placed individual for the role which is critical to the long
term success of the Company. Thus the Board will continue to attract, retain,
develop and motivate the right talents from time to time.

The Board should also include a balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) so that
there is a strong independent element on the Board, which can effectively
exercise independent judgement. Non-executive Directors should be of
sufficient caliber and number for their views to carry weight.

Review

The Board has the ultimate responsibility to select and appoint Directors
and to periodically review the succession planning to key positions of
the Company as well as the nomination policy to ensure the policy is
remain relevant to the Company’s need and reflect both current regulatory
requirements and good corporate governance practice.
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MANAGEMENT

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company
are delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management (the
“Management”). The delegated functions and assignments are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into
any significant transactions by the above mentioned officers.

The overall responsibilities of the Management include considering and
making decisions on the following matters:

(i)  Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;
(i)  Strategic planning of different business and functions;

(i) ~ Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv)  Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(v)  Managing the Group’s day to day business.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors; and at
least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has made an annual confirmation in writing of his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors were
independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications by the Company containing the names of the Directors.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, should keep
abreast of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the businesses
and activities of the Group. The Group also provides briefings and other
training materials to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and
skills, and updates all Directors on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. To further ensure that all Directors are adequately informed about
the Company’s business and operations as well as his/her responsibilities
under relevant laws, rules and regulations, the company secretary of
the Company provides all Directors with regular updates regarding the
Company’s performance as well as updates on latest amendments and
developments to the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to date of this report,
the independent non-executive Directors provided their training records to
the Company. The Directors received the following training materials for the
year ended 31 December 2019 according to the records provided by the
Directors:
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Reading materials relevant to
director’s duties and responsibilities

RMEATRESREREE2EN

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman)

RESE(EE)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo

RigeiEL

Mr. Lau Mo (Note 3)

2R S 4 (BHEE3)

Mr. Gan Lin (Chief Executive Officer) (Note 1)
HRRS A (TTEcAE50) (MisE1)

Non-Executive Director

FHTES
Mr. Liu Kam Lung
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Reading materials relevant to
director’s duties and responsibilities

HMETHEESREREEZER
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BIYFHTES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis 4
SRAESEAE
Mr. Chiu Yu Wang 4
TR E
Mr. Ko Yin Wai (Note 4) 4
mEEEMTES)
Dr. Gao Jinkang (Note 2) 4
SERELT(MFE2)
Notes: M5
1. Mr. Gan Lin was appointed as an executive Director and chief executive officer on 1.  H iR AR 20201 22 B ER (T AHITE S LT

22 January 2020. BAREL -

2. Dr. Gao Jinkang was elected as an independent non-executive Director in the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 May 2019.

3. Mr. Lau Mo passed away on 21 December 2019.

4. Mr. Ko Yin Wai retired as an independent non-executive Director on 3 May 2019.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board of the Company is Mr. Zhang Qing. The
Chief Executive Officer of the Company is Mr. Gan Lin (appointed on 22
January 2020). The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are separated and not performed by the same individual to prevent power
concentration on any one individual. The Chairman is primarily responsible
for managing the Board, whereas the Chief Executive Officer is primarily
responsible for overseeing the various businesses of the Group. Their
respective roles and responsibilities are summarised as follows:

Responsibilities of the Chairman include:

(i)  leading the Board and ensuring that the Board functions effectively and
smoothly;

(i)  chairing the Board and shareholder’s meetings;
(i)  approving the agenda for each Board meeting, taking into account,
where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors and the

company secretary for inclusion in the agenda;

(iv)  ensuring that all Directors receive all relevant information prior to each
meeting and are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings;
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(vii)

(viii)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

ensuring all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely and constructive manner;

encouraging all Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, to actively participate in all Board and Board Committees
meetings and promoting a culture of openness for the Directors to share
and voice their concerns on all matters during each meeting;

ensuring good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and followed; and

taking appropriate steps to provide effective communication with
shareholders and to ensure that shareholders’ view are communicated
to the Board as a whole.

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer include:

@

(i)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

implementing the Group’s policy and strategies as set by the Board;

strategic planning of different business and functions;

closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

assuming full accountability to the Board for all aspects of the Group’s
operations and performance;

maintaining ongoing dialogue with the Chairman and the other Directors;

developing and leading an effective executive team;

putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

representing the Company and managing the Group’s day to day
business.

(vi)

(vii)

(vii)

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

All the Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for an initial term of one year which is automatically renewable for
successive terms of one year upon the expiry of a term. Their appointment is
also subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for re-election in accordance
with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”). At each annual
general meeting, not less than one third of the Directors then in office shall
retire and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

All existing Directors are entitled to a fixed remuneration per month or fee
per annum respectively. The remuneration of each Director is subject to the
annual review of the Board with reference to his contribution in terms of time,
effort and his expertise.

Details of remuneration paid to each of the Directors during the year 2019 are
disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

All Directors are entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred
during the performance of their duties to the Company and are eligible for
share options under the Share Option Scheme.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely, the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee, all
with specific terms of reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities
of the respective board committees. All board committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity with the requirements of the
CG Code which are available on the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited and the Company.

The Audit Committee is currently composed of the three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang
and Dr. Gao Jinkang, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, with all
members being independent non-executive Directors of the Company in full
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

29 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019

ESZAEREE

AR (BRBELIFNTER) NZETNHEH
B—F RIHERMAIESEEEN —F - K
EMRERERBARR A (AR ) &WFERE
“Aﬁﬁi cRBBRBFAEGE L TR
DZ-EREENERRRE MERESRA
PE=FWERI R

aﬂm H

BRFEESEHEREERGETEAHRFS -
thi%%%%limmiﬁéﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
KR ~ 1B R E R MEE

R2019F W » MZEBX N2 HIEFRE - BRE
B R MITE 121 FE -
EREETVERABTARAFEBEHRNEESRE

HF S MESHERTEERIRBRBIE S
XABRHE -

EEE2Z8E

EEeRV-—_AEESEES  ERZES -
FWNZEghERZEES WAHBSEESELE
CHTHREDSE  BEIBAEENRET - AT
EEESZ 8 ERREBESERERNES
SERELRTE - FHIRRER -

BEREES

RRBlERUBEZZES([ERZEEE]) 1B
FIERACEE AT ENEEBESE - m
ZEAREDSEAINEERZREEMBR AR
NN T 2 HBIEER] o

ENEZERRA-RBEUIENTESER - BIR
XL WRERERSEREL  XARS
NXEERETRE  MAAREBRARTZEL
FWITES  THETCGEM EMRAIES.281% -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and recommended approval to

the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, 7 audit committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on pages 19 to 20 of this annual

report.

The role and function of the Audit Committee include the following:

() Relationship with the Company’s auditors

(@)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditors the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences;
and

to develop and implement policy on engaging the external auditors
to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditors”
includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all relevant information would
reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed.

(ii) Review of the Company’s financial information

(@)

to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, annual report
and accounts, half-year report and quarterly reports of the
Company, and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them. In reviewing these reports and accounts before
submission to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus
particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2)  major judgmental areas;
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EERERRE (B

(8) significant adjustments resulting from audit;
(4)  the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
(5) compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting.

Regarding (ii)(a) above,

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board
and senior management, and the Audit Committee must
meet, at least twice a year, with the external auditors; and

(2) the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the
reports and accounts and should give due consideration to
any matters that have been raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, compliance officer or the external
auditors.

(iii) Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control
systems

(@ toreview the financial controls, and unless expressly addressed by
a separate Board risk management and internal control committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company;

(b) to discuss the risk management and internal control systems with
the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have effective systems. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions;

(c) to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and the management’s response to these findings;

(d) to ensure co-ordination between the internal and the external
auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and
to review and monitor its effectiveness;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the
Company and its subsidiaries;

to review the management letter of the external auditors, any
material queries raised by the external auditors to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control
and the management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the management letter of the external auditors;

to report to the Board on the matters in the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules;

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters. The Audit
Committee should ensure that proper arrangements are in place
for fair and independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action; and

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditors.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

(@) reviewed the quarterly, half-yearly and annually results of the Group as
well as discussed and reviewed financial and other reports for the year;

(b) reviewed the external auditors’ significant findings and management’s
response to the recommendation raised;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems and the adequacy of the accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions of the Group;

(d) reviewed and approved the external auditors’ statutory audit scope for
2019 and the letter of representation to be given by the Board;

(e) considered and approved the 2019 external audit fees and engagement
letters;
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()  monitored the audit and non-audit services rendered to the Group by
its external auditor and ensures their engagement in other non-audit
services, if any, will not impair their audit independence or objectivity;

(@ recommended to the Board in relation to the terms of reference of Audit
Committee; and

(h)  recommended to the Board regarding the dividend policy.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and recommended approval to
the Board.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirement of the CG Code. In accordance with provisions set out in the
CG Code are available on the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges and
Clearing Limited and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee is currently composed of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Dr. Gao Jinkang, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, one remuneration committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on pages 19 to 20 of this
annual report.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee includes:

()  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(i)  to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goal and objectives;
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(i)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management. This should
include benefits in kind, person rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or remove of directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;
and

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding
his own remuneration.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

@

reviewed matters relating to the existing remuneration packages and
emoluments of Directors and senior management;

made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management; and

considered and reviewed the Group’s remuneration policy with reference
to time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors and the senior
management, desirability of performance-based remuneration.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The annual remuneration of the members of the senior management by band
for the year ended 31 December 2019 is as follows:

Remuneration Bands

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in
conformity with the requirements of the CG Code and are available on
the websites of the Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Company.

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu
Wang and Dr. Gao Jinkang, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on pages 19 to 20 of this
annual report.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee includes:

(i)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(v) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the Chairman and the chief executive of the Company; and

(v)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, it should
set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why the
Nomination Committee believes he should be elected and the reasons
why the Nomination Committee considers him to be independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:
()  recommended to the Board with respect to the retirement and
re-election of Directors at the last annual general meeting held on 3 May

2019;

(i) recommended to the Board in relation to the terms of reference of
Nomination Committee; and

(i) recommended to the Board regarding the nomination policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set
out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board held one meeting for the purpose of reviewing the compliance of
corporate governance policies for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The duties of the Board include:

(i)  to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

(v)  to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in
the CG Report.

Major accomplishments in 2019 comprised the following:

(i)  evaluated the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and made appropriate amendments;

(i) arranged the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; and

(i)  reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group contained in this report have been audited by Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited. The service fees for auditing and non-auditing
services provided by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited and the resigned auditor,
CF Partners Limited, for the year ended 31 December 2019 are included in
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group respectively.
The major non-audit services provided by our external auditor for the year
ended 31 December 2019 mainly include services in connection with acting as
a reporting accountants to report certain financial information included in the
Group’s circular dated 24 December 2019 and other professional services.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation and true
and fair presentation of the Financial Statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the
Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern as at 31 December 2019. Accordingly, the
Directors have prepared the Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 on a going concern basis.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statement is set out in the section of
“Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Company improves its business and operational activities by identifying
the areas of significant business risks via a regular review and taking
appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The management
of the Company reviews all significant control policies and procedures and
highlights all significant matters to the Board and Audit Committee.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain and review
the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls with a view
to ensuring that shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets are
safeguarded. The Company has established internal audit department to
monitor compliance with policies and procedures and the effectiveness
of internal control structures of the Group. The internal audit department
reports directly to the Audit Committee and ensure the internal controls are in
place and functioning properly as intended. In the year under review, Infinity
Concept Ripple Limited as an external professional firm, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group, covering material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. In addition, there is regular dialogue between the
Audit Committee and the Group’s external auditors so that both are aware of
the significant factors which may affect their respective scope of work.

The Audit Committee reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems as well as the effectiveness of the internal audit function in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2019 with reference to the internal control
review report issued by Infinity Concept Ripple Limited and considered the
system effective and adequate. The Board conducted a review of the internal
control system of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2019, including financial, operational and compliance control,
and risk management functions. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems as well as the effectiveness
of the internal audit function by considering the reviews performed by
Infinity Concept Ripple Limited. The Board, having taken into account the
recommendations of Infinity Concept Ripple Limited and the Audit Committee
as well as its review results, considered the risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate. The systems of risk management
and internal control are designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company
complies with the code provisions relating to internal control contained in the
CG Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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TREGHRE ()

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2019, the company secretary was Ms. Chan Lok Yin.

Details of backgrounds and qualification of the company secretary of the
Company are set out in the section of “Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

A written record had been received by the Company from Ms. Chan Lok
Yin to confirm that she took not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company is of the
view that Ms. Chan Lok Yin has complied with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO CONVENE
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In order to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue, including
the election of individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting.

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting are subject to the Articles, and the applicable
legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules:

(i)  any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), to require an extraordinary general
meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition pursuant to Article 58 of the
Articles; and

(i) if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/
herself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s)
by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

PROCEDURES FOR SENDING ENQUIRIES TO
THE BOARD

Apart from sending email to info@newwesterngroup.com.hk, shareholders
may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to
the headquarters and principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Suite 2101, 21/F, Chinachem Century Tower, 178 Gloucester Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, by post or by fax to (852) 2539 03283, for the attention
of the Company Secretary.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant
to the Articles, shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by means of
requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set out above.

DIVIDEND POLICY

To allow shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profit whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future growth
opportunities. The Company formulates the dividend policy aims at enhancing
transparency of the Company and facilitating the shareholders and investors
to make informed investment decision relating to the Company. The Board
of the Company shall consider the following factors of the Group before
declaring or recommending dividends and any declaration of dividend will be
subject to the approval of the shareholders:

(i)  the Group’s financial conditions;
(i)  the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group’s retained earnings and distributable reserves;

(v)  the Group’s liquidity position;
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(vi)  general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group and other
internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group;

(vi) applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association;

(vii) the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders;

(ix) shareholders’ interest of the Company; and
(x)  other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and may take any
amendments that it deems necessary or desirable. The Company does not
have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio and there is no assurance that
a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders. These include
the annual general meeting, the annual, interim and quarterly reports,
notices, announcements and circulars and the Company’s website at
www.newwesterngroup.com.hk.

CONSTITUTION DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Qing (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 50, is an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from 1 July 2014 and
was appointed as the compliance officer of the Company with effect from 30
April 2015. He was appointed as an investor relations officer of the Company
since 18 March 2014. Mr. Zhang is also a director of the certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Guangzhou Institute of Foreign Trade* (J& N % 5N & 5 B3 (currently
known as Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (&R MNESNE K E)) in
the People’s Republic of China in July 1991 and further obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from San Diego State University in the
United States in December 1998. From July 1991 to July 1996, he worked
as the foreign sales staff of China National Light Industrial Products Import
& Export Corporation*. From February 2000 to November 2003, Mr. Zhang
worked as the manager of investment department of Sichuan Harmony
Enterprises (Group) Limited*. From July 2006 to February 2013, he worked
as the investment manager of Canada Shenghe Investment Inc. Besides, Mr.
Zhang acted as the director of Sichuan Harmony Enterprises (Group) Limited*
during the period from 8 March 2011 to 12 September 2013. Mr. Zhang is a
brother-in-law of Mr. Lau Mo (passed away on 21 December 2019), a former
executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules).

Mr. Gan Lin (“Mr. Gan”), aged 41, is an executive Director of the Board of
the Company and the chief executive officer of the Company with effect from
22 January 2020. He has solid experience in strategic planning, corporate
finance and financial management in the PRC. Mr. Gan graduated with
a bachelor’s degree in logistics management in June 2001 from Beijing
Technology and Business University (formerly known as Beijing Institute of
Business) in the PRC. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gan served as a
general manager of the capital operation and management centre at China
City Property Management Company Limited* (F 32 £ SR AR A 7))
from February 2014 to March 2016. From August 2006 to February 2014,
Mr. Gan had served senior management positions in various corporations and
financial institutions, including Mocon Inc., Roampond International Group
Co., Limited and Guosen Securities. During the period from April 2016 to
June 2019 and from December 2016 to June 2019 respectively, Mr. Gan
served as an executive director and the chief executive officer of Forebase
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2310).

The English translation of names or any descriptions in Chinese which are
marked with “*” is for identification purpose only.
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Non-Executive Director

Mr. Liu Kam Lung (“Mr. Liu”), aged 56, previously an executive Director of
the Company, was re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company
on 16 October 2014. Mr. Liu obtained a Diploma of Business Administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan
University) in 1990. Mr. Liu was admitted as an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of the United Kingdom, an associate
of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, an associate of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, a full member of the Society of Registered
Financial Planners and an associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
in 1993, 1994, 1995, 1999, 2009 and 2010 respectively. Mr. Liu has over
28 years of experience in the financial industry. Mr. Liu is currently the chief
executive officer of China Rise Finance Group Company Limited, a subsidiary
of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 1223.HK). He is currently
also the independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of Lamtex
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1041.HK) since 19 March 2020. Mr. Liu was
the independent non-executive director of Pak Tak International Limited (stock
code: 2668.HK) for the period from September 2014 to September 2019. Mr.
Liu was the independent non-executive director of Enterprise Development
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1808.HK) for the period from January 2015 to
April 2017. Mr. Liu was a non-executive director of Kith Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1201.HK) for the period from October 2010 to June 2013. In addition,
from March 2011 to October 2014, Mr. Liu was an executive Director, finance
director, company secretary and authorised representative of the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 52, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on 30 April 2015.
Mr. Cheung is also the independent non-executive Director of Sanbase
Corporation Limited (stock code: 8501.HK), a chairman of audit committee,
a member of remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee. He is also the independent non-executive director of the Prosper
Construction Holdings Limited (stock code: 6816.HK), the chairman of the
audit committee, a member of the remuneration committee, nomination
committee and risk management committee. He was a former independent
non-executive director (from November 2005 to October 2008), executive
director (from October 2008 to December 2013), chief financial officer (from
October 2008 to December 2013) and company secretary (from October
2008 to September 2014) of Peace Map Holding Limited (formerly known as
Ming Hing Waterworks Holdings Limited) (stock code: 0402.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also an independent
non-executive director of Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited (stock code:
8265.HK) from September 2010 to September 2014, a company listed on
the GEM. Prior to taking up the above-mentioned post of the Company, he
was the chief finance officer of the China division of Midland Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1200.HK) from November 2004 to November 2008, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheung has over 25
years of experience in accounting and financial management. He obtained
a master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia in April 1993 and a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering
from the University of London, United Kingdom in August 1990. Mr. Cheung
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Chiu Yu Wang (“Mr. Chiu”), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 17 February 2014. He obtained a
certificate in Business Studies (Banking) from Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute
of the Vocational Training Council Hong Kong in August 1983. He has over
20 years of marketing experience in banking industry. Since May 2010, Mr.
Chiu has become a shareholder and a director of Sparkle Well Environmental
Lighting Company Limited, which is principally engaged in trading of
environmental lighting products. Since 2019, Mr. Chiu has become the sole
shareholder and director of Good Karma Marketing Promotion Company
Limited, which is principally engaged in general trading business.
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Dr. Gao Jinkang (“Dr. Gao”), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 3 May 2019. Dr. Gao has over 34 years of
experience in the legal field in the PRC. Dr. Gao joined Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in the PRC in July 1985, where he has
successively served as an assistant lecturer, lecturer, vice professor and is
currently serving as a professor. Dr. Gao also held the positions of deputy
head of the faculty of law from March 1994 to May 2000, head of the faculty
of law from May 2000 to October 2001, and dean of the school of law from
October 2001 to August 2018 at Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics. Dr. Gao obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from Southwest
College of Political Science and Law* (74 F /% £ Bt ) (currently known as
Southwest University of Political Science and Law) in the PRC in July 1985.
Dr. Gao received from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics a
master’s degree in economics in June 1995 and graduated with a doctoral
degree in political economy in September 2002. Dr. Gao has been appointed
a member of the Advisory Committee in Professional Legal Teaching in Higher
Education” (25 2RE2RHEEHEIEEZL 5 8) of the Ministry of Education
of the PRC in October 2018 for a term of four years. He is also a member of
council of the China Law Society* (FBI/AZ2&) and an arbitrator of the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission.

The English translation of names or any descriptions in Chinese which are
marked with “*” is for identification purpose only.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Lok Yin (“Ms. Chan”), aged 35, is an associate of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. She was the company
secretary of Pak Tak International Limited (Stock Code: 2668) during the
period from August 2015 to April 2017 and the joint Company Secretary
and Authorised Representative of the Company during the period from April
2014 to April 2016 and October 2014 to April 2016 respectively. Ms. Chan is
currently the financial controller and company secretary of the Company. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree of accounting from Edinburgh Napier University
in United Kingdom in 2008. Ms. Chan has over 10 years of auditing,
accounting, corporate governance and company secretarial experience.
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COMPANY SECRETARY NAEWE

Ms. Chan Lok Yin is the Company Secretary of the Company. For details BRE&EHR LT AR QA BTNARIME - BEKEZNE
of their profile, please refer to the paragraphs headed “Senior Management”  F&H15 @ LA 2R EERE|—K -
under this section.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER BRI

Mr. Zhang Qing is the compliance officer of the Company. For details of his REL4EARNAFTHNERTI - BEEBEREF
profile, please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” under this 1 @ B2 AE[ HITEE JER -
section.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The directors (“Directors”) of New Western Group Limited (the “Company”)
submit herewith their annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES, GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATION AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no other
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
year.

The analysis of geographical locations of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year can
be found in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report. This discussion forms parts of this
Directors’ Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the state
of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 72 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”,
note 29(b), and note 37 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 29(a) to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$118,371,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last 5 financial years is set out on page 163 of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during 2019
or existed as at 31 December 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2019.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEEREGE

e
ERARBERARBRBERFANEBFIED 5

HRGAMBHRERZ[RAE=EER] - Wi
29(b) & F$7E37 ©

SEN

ERAADRBRARFRNNE ) FBHNRE M
WEMITE29() ©

Aok

AARIFR2019F12 A31 B Al D RH FEtE £ Z8 4
118,371,000/ 7T °

BrRBEERE

MAKF SRS AELEFHAEELBEEGUR
EARRBIAZLL PRI B BRREER -

LEMBHRE

AEEFOSEVRFEZXEREELEAERE
HANARFHRE163H -

R SR 175 5

AR BWERR 20195 7] 3 N 0 358 2k 722019
F12A31BFE -

BE - LEIEEALQF LHE

%

QB EAE MK E AR RE2£2019F12 8311
HFEEMERE  HEXBREMAQR EHE
%—; °

FRETEEEGRAT 20195/ 48



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EEERE (R

SHARE OPTION SCHEME BT E

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 30 to the consolidated & BB IRHE ST 2IEEIBE N 424 B S R=R 3130 -
financial statements.

DIRECTORS 5=

The Directors of the Company during the year were: RER  KRARIMESNOT -
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Zhang Qing (Chairman) RESE(EE)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo (Note 1) RIGEBL(PFET)
Mr. Lau Mo (Note 2) 2R 54 (FT7E2)
Non-Executive Director FHITES

Mr. Liu Kam Lung BEeREfE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis REX K&

Mr. Chiu Yu Wang IR E

Mr. Ko Yin Wai (Note 3) S EELE(MIFES)
Dr. Gao Jinkang (Note 4) SERBL(HEL)
Notes: MI3E

P

1. Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo resigned as an executive Director and Chief Executive 1. RIS E 7201945 922 HBHEMITE £ RITIK
Officer on 22 May 2019. A o

2. Mr. Lau Mo passed away on 21 December 2019. 2. BIRALEN20195F12 521 BB -
3. Mr. Ko Yin Wai retired as an independent non-executive Director on 3 May 2019. 3. SEELENR2019F5A3HREEIENITES °

4. Dr. Gao Jinkang was elected as an independent non-executive Director in the 4. SBEBELRALQT201945 A3H BTHERA
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 May 2019. FREGLEERBUIFNTES -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 22 January 2020, Mr. Gan ~ RER&EEIRE - HHREEN20206F1 F22HEE
Lin was appointed as an executive director and chief executive officer of the 117%$® BIMITE S MITIBE °
Company.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. AR BB WEIR B REX AL - HEREERS

Cheung Chi Man Dennis, Mr. Chiu Yu Wang and Dr. Gao Jinkang, and as at ~&FIBTHNFEEBEIMER - ARAFEEE
the date of this report still considers them to be independent. MABERSERELAT -
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ROTATION OF DIRECTORS IN THE
FORTHCOMING ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board
as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at every annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 84(2) of the Articles, a retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting
at which he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far
as necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject
to retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last
re-election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director
appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 83(3) shall not be taken into
account in determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors
who are to retire by rotation.

In accordance with the above provisions of the Articles, Mr. Liu Kam Lung
and Mr. Chiu Yu Wang shall retire from office as Directors by rotation at
forthcoming annual general meeting (“the AGM”) and being eligible, have
agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Mr. Gan Lin, who shall
hold office until the AGM, being eligible, has also agreed to offer himself for
re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Director
is appointed for an initial term of one year commencing from their respective
dates of appointment and shall continue thereafter from year to year until
terminated by one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the
other party.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Saved as disclosed in the sections headed “Connected Transactions” of
this report, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party or in
which a Director or the Director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Profiles of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on
pages 42 to 46 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee which takes into account their merit, qualifications
and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual

performance and comparable market statistics.

Furthermore, the Company has adopted the share option scheme to reward
participants for their contribution to the Group.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short position of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) to be and were entered in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or (c) as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long and Short Positions

Ordinary shares and underlying share of the Company
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EERBESTRAERAQEN
EAEECEE KRG - HERD R
BEEIENERNAR

M2019F12A31H » ARRIEER&ERTHAER
RAR B MEFE B EE (TR RESLPEK
BI([FH R AIE GG ) EXVED) 2 I - R K
N AERE B A () IR F %&Hﬂiﬂwﬂﬁ%xv*ﬁ%
T8N EEME AN T R ER AR (B
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FEIS2AFBE RN ARG FE 2 E L MRmER
N# A k(o) IRIEGEM LT AR BI555.46 2 5.68 (4%

/A B1T A8 AN B A e 25 FA R 1
—F .

HRRHKRE

RATRBERBAD AR G5

Approximate

Number of percentage of
the Company’s total issued
issued ordinary shares capital

shares held of the Company
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interests (Note 1) (Note 2)
FIsAARE BT EARD B S BITRAE
ZERROEE BENHANEIL
HEME 51 HEmitE (MiEET) (My=E2)
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Qing Personal interest 4,000,000 (L) 0.29%
RESTE EPNG: 4,000,000 (£1)
Notes: FIE -

1. The number of the Company’s total issued ordinary shares as at 31 December
2019 was 1,397,782,400. The letter “L” denotes long positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company.

2. The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,397,782,400 ordinary shares of
the Company in issues as at 31 December 2019.

1. RE2019F12A318 » RAREHITHBRBE
£1,397,782,4000% ° [ 47 1A R EIRR 5 AR
fRin 2 iFE o

2. BERLNBER2019F12A31BARBEHTZ

1,397,782,400i% MR FTETE -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to the
Directors or Chief Executive Officer of the Company, none of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in
any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
(@) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to the Directors or Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, the following persons or corporations (other
than a director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to 336 of the SFO:

Long and Short Positions

Ordinary shares of the Company
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FTERRREMATRARFR
0 RRARRA R AT VR SO B

BARBMEMEFRITRAEFTA - 1M2019412
A318 « AR RIRIEFES KA RHI5 3361k
FEMZRMEEEE - U TALTHAR(BRARFA
BEEAmRETHABINEEARRTRG RIERER
IS SAR
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Total number of
the Company’s
issued ordinary

Approximate
percentage of total

shares held issued share capital
Name of shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests (Note 1) of the Company
IR AR E BT HARATE BT
EERRDAR RABEH
BREE LB R (MtEE1) L EEaged
Champsword Limited Beneficial owner (Note 2) 810,400,526 (L) 57.98%
800,400,526 (S) 57.26%
BEmlEA A2 810,400,526 (4F)
800,400,526 (%)
Mr. Lau Mo (passed away on Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 810,400,526 (L) 57.98%
21 December 2019)
800,400,526 (S) 57.26%
ZIRAEE(R2019F 128218 SZIEHIABERS (:E2) 810,400,526 (4F)
BEtE)
800,400,526 (%)
Qilu International Funds SPC Person having a security interest in shares 800,400,526 (L) 57.26%
(acting for and on behalf of (Note 3)
Zhongtai Dingfeng Classified
Fund SP) (“Qilu”)
Qilu International Funds SPC xR RS A LT (FIF3) 800,400,526 (%F)
(AR EZhongtai Dingfeng
Classified Fund SP7T%)
(rQiul)
Zhongtai International Asset Investment manager (Note 4) 800,400,526 (L) 57.26%

Management Limited
hREFEEERARAR

BB (fi7E4)

800,400,526 (#F)
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Notes:

1. The number of the Company’s total issued ordinary shares as at 31 December
2019 was 1,397,782,400. The letter “L” denotes long positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and the letter “S” denotes short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company.

2. The percentages are calculated on the basis of 1,397,782,400 ordinary shares of
the Company in issues as at 31 December 2019.

3. Mr. Lau Mo (passed away on 21 December 2019) is the beneficial owner of all
of the issued share capital of Champsword Limited, and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the 800,400,526 ordinary shares of the Company in which
Champsword Limited is beneficially interested. As disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 16 November 2019, Champsword Limited had executed
on 13 November 2019 a charge over its 800,400,526 ordinary shares of the
Company in favour of Zhongtai Financial Investment Limited as security for certain
senior secured note issued by Champsword Limited and subscribed by Zhongtai
Financial Investment Limited. Zhongtai Financial Investment Limited thus has
security interest over these shares.

4. Zhongtai International Asset Management Limited is the fund manager of Qilu, as
such it is deemed to be interested in all the shares Qilu is interested pursuant to
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, so far as is known to
the Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and based on the
public records filed on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited and records kept by the Company, no other persons or corporations
(other than Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable to
the major customers and suppliers respectively during the year are as follows:
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FREFREER

AEENTIBEREPRHEEED BIREFAEE R
RBWERDT :

Sales Purchases

HE EE

The largest customer BARF 9% N/ATNE A
Five largest customers in aggregate hREFEET 33% N/ATE A
The largest supplier BAHIER N/ATE A 35%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RAHEREET N/ATE A3 70%

Save as disclosed in this annual report and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) has any interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, which do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share
capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.
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INTEREST IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, none of the Directors, the
controlling shareholders of the Company and their respective close associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group or any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the
subsidiaries of the Group.

At no time during the year 2019 and up to the date of this report, there was
or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of
the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

PLEDGE OF SHARES BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 13 November 2018, Champsword Limited, the controlling shareholder
of the Company which is wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Mo (passed away on
21 December 2019), a former executive Director who passed away on 21
December 2019, executed a charge over its 800,400,526 ordinary shares
in the issued share capital of the Company (representing approximately
57.26% of the issue share capital of the Company) in favour of Zhongtai
Financial Investment Limited as security for certain senior secured note issued
by Champsword Limited and subscribed by Zhongtai Financial Investment
Limited. Zhongtai Financial Investment Limited is an entity independent of the
Company and its connected persons (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules). As
at the date of this report, the said charge has not been released.

For further details of aforesaid transaction and Mr. Lau Mo (passed away
on 21 December 2019), please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 16 November 2018 and dated 22 December 2019 respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) in early 2020, a series
of precautionary and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across the country/region. The Group will pay close attention
to the development of the epidemic and evaluate its impact on the financial
position and operating results of the Group. As at the date of this report,
the Group was not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial
statements as a result of the epidemic. Except for disclosed, there were no
significant events after the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date
of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A corporate governance report is set out on pages 18 to 41 of this annual
report. Mr. Zhang Qing whose biographical details are set out on page 42 of
this report, is the Compliance Officer of the Company and Ms Chan Lok Yin
whose biographical details are set out on page 45 of this annual report, is the
Company Secretary of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company prepared
in accordance with Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules will be published
within three months after the publication of this annual report.

AUDITOR

During the year of 2019, CF Partners Limited resigned as auditors of the
Company with effect from 31 July 2019 and Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
was appointed by the directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising. JH CPA
Alliance Limited retired as auditors of the company at the annual general
meeting 2018. Excepted for disclosed, there have been no other changes of
auditors in the past three years. A resolution for the reappointment of Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Zhang Qing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
18 M2 BB R

@ bakertilly
R B [ B

TO THE MEMBERS OF NEW WESTERN GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of New Western
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as,
the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 162, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained.is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter

B2 BEHRE ()

FREEREE

FHRECZEESBESNERANS - FRAME

HAWBHRRTHREENETE - BEENERER

RAMBHRREENFEARMLTEAESR - M
SR EFREFRRERL

HREZER

Impairment of Goodwiill

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 3, key sources of estimation
uncertainty in note 4 and disclosures of goodwill in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s goodwill amounted to approximately
HKD137,448,000, allocated to the Group’s Cash Generating Units (“CGUS”)
relating to the Group’s PRC property management business in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management has performed impairment assessments to determine the
recoverable amounts of the goodwill at the end of the reporting period. The
recoverable amounts of the goodwill is determined based on value-in-use
calculations using the discounted cash flow model.

The calculation involved significant management judgements, estimates and
assumptions on the future business plan of the PRC property management
business, and sales price, operating cost, taxes and capital expenditures
of the respective CGU to which the goodwill was allocated and also the
applicable pre-tax discount rates.

We focused on this matter due to the significance of goodwill and also given
the relevant key assumptions applied in the goodwill assessment involved
significant management estimates and judgements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BB E ()

Key Audit Matter BREZEE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter BEETERE N EERREZEER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of goodwill & & A RREEREFGENEZREF BT

included:

- Evaluated the methodology and estimate used by management in the
discounted cash flow models based on value-in-use of the respective
CGU and tested the mathematical accuracy;

- Checked, on sample basis, the accuracy of the input data used
by management in the impairment assessment by agreeing to the
underlying supporting and source documents;

- Assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow models (mainly including future business plan of
the PRC property management business, sales price, operating cost,
taxes and capital expenditures of the respective CGU) and comparing
with market and historical data and approved budgets and growth rates
for the respective CGU;

- Assessed the reasonableness of the discount rate used in the
discounted cash flow models by comparing to the applicable range of
discount rates being developed based on the financial information of
certain comparable peer companies; and

- Evaluated the sensitivity analysis prepared by the Group on the key
assumptions, and assessed the potential impact of a range of possible
outcomes.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

B2 BEHRE ()

Key Audit Matter BREZEE
Impairment assessment of loan receivables V- et 0-1-Ear

Refer to the significant accounting policies in note 3, key sources of estimation
uncertainty in note 4 and disclosures of loan receivables in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Under the adoption of HKFRS 9, the measurement of forward-looking
expected credit loss (“ECL”) requires the application of significant judgement
and increased complexity which include the identification of exposures with
a significant deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used in the ECL
models for exposures assessed individually, such as the expected future cash
flows and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of loans receivables
amounted to approximately HK$122,876,000 (net of allowances) representing
approximately 39% which is significant to the consolidated financial
statements, the identification of whether exposures triggered deterioration in
credit quality and the estimation of the individual impairment amount requires
the use of significant judgments, estimates and forward looking information.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of loan
receivables included:

- Understood, evaluated and validated the Group’s internal controls
over impairment assessment of loans receivables, which relates to
management’s identification of events that triggered the provision for
ECL of loans receivables and estimation of the amount of provisions
involved;

- Inspected the original loans and assets pledged agreements entered
into between the Group and the borrowers, and other relevant
information relating to the borrowers as assessed by the Group;

—  Circulated auditor’s confirmations to test the existence of the loans
receivables as at the end of the reporting period and checked the
accuracy of the aging of loans receivables as at the end of the reporting
period by tracing to loan agreements and the underlying accounting
record; and

—  Assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s calculation of the ECL
model and the criteria for assessing if there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets should be
measured on a lifetime ECL provision matrix model which includes the
past overdue records, historical settlement patterns and assessment
of the probability of the recoverability of the loans receivables with
reference to borrowers’ interest repayment records and principal
repayment records subsequent to the year end date and up to the date
of this report, and traced the repayments to the bank statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
BB E ()

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the
“other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and, obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDlTOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such

- HEERRAFELESTERNREEEN
i WRBFAENEZERRE  RESEF
EEEGRIENFANEATEE - A
Y BEREERBEKLENEIBRERR
B e fh%i%aﬁ SEFHEEARTHEEM - AIAL

REZBMBETRBEBEWIRAUH
BRTOEBKEER  HMHARKEER

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are TE - AIESEEBIESZER - BN

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s MmaEERNEHEZEANRE A LEAESHEZ
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to BEE o AT RREHRIBRAIEER &
cease to continue as a going concern. EETBBERELE -

FHEARE MR ERBII®RA R - A&
WD - BEREER  URGEEMBHREE
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying BRAARMIMEER S REHE -

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the -
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial - H B5EEENES TSN EERIER
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to D BENEZERE - UYL EMEHRE
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are BRER  EEBHEE EBERHT B
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group SENERIE - ESERTENERER
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. EERIEE -

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among &SHEAEBBTIELEE  BEEEEL

BREREREEE  BREENEZHH
FBR1 HH P BRI RO (AT EE AR

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant ~ #E »
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 3
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we B ZIFAIEABIRREHN - HAEECHTAEH
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, B EREMEEE  WRFZEBEMELSIE

WRRBRETETEFHIIENBEELEMEE
VAR (fisi38 R ) AR BB BT 048 7

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
B 2 B & ()

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we  FLEIESABEBMNEIEM S @ BSEFWLEE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the ¥ B AHMG AV HEBRRZAEE - FEMEK
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the AR EZEE - EENREMREPHMZES
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless 18 @ BRIEEEEM AT E LG EEER AR
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 58 * SKERHZERABRT - BEEEEBHNE
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be FHHEFBBEETEMERNEBMERESBG
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing HELHW AR @ BEEITeELSFE I TAE
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of & FFEBZEHAE -

such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's  HEAIB I AZEATRENFZBEER HENMH -
report is Choi Kwong Yu.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited ABEBESTMEBAMERATE
Certified Public Accountants BEDSAT

2nd Floor, 625 King’s Road, North Point b AREE625521E

Hong Kong, 23 March 2020 &7+ 202063 H23H

Choi Kwong Yu BN

Practising Certificate Number PO5071 HEFERFEPO5071
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEEkEMZEH IS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
PiEE FExT FAT
Revenue g 6 62,335 76,328
Cost of sales and services $HE M ARIEAA (23,161) (26,413)
Gross profit EF 39,174 49,915
Other income E A 7 2,235 1,140
Other net gains/(losses) Hubukzs(E18) 358 8 202 (40)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment  FEURE 5 8R 7 &% FE UL E 3R A
losses of trade and loan receivables CREEIE) RiEkEsIEEE 9 (31,422) 13
Administrative expenses TEFAX (27,680) (32,569)
Finance cost 5% A 10 (429) -
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBE A (B518) B 11 (17,920) 18,459
Income tax expense FriSRifx 13 (2,164) (3,938)
(Loss)/profit for the year ER(ER),EF (20,084) 14,521
Other comprehensive expenses, net of ~ Hi2EEX & HIKREHIE
nil tax
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently E&rJgEEFHIBEER AR ¢
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation — & GINEFRSEE L 2 [E 3 =58
of foreign operations (855) (1,237)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income EXR2E (X)) W45
for the year (20,939) 13,284
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: ~ FE{RE R (E518) %F) :
— Owners of the Company - KREHEB A (18,675) 15,529
— Non-controlling interests - FEPERR R (1,409) (1,008)
(20,084) 14,521
Total comprehensive (expense)/income  EEFERZE(FIX), INFH4E5E
for the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company - RNRAREEA (19,525) 14,305
— Non-controlling interests - FEIERR R A (1,414) (1,021)
(20,939) 13,284
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK cents HK cents
Al &L
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to: FEML TR (E518), B F)
— Owner of the Company - RAREAA
— Basic and diluted - ERREE 15 (1.34) 1.11

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
MR2019912A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE FET FAET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B NEE 16 1,139 3,444
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 4,591 -
Goodwill EES 18 137,448 137,448
Loan receivables EIE R 21 9,000 -
152,178 140,892
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 19 816 3,752
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR 20 6,253 5,763
Loan receivables FEWE K 21 113,876 08,678
Other receivables, deposits and EmpEl s - me RIER
prepayments A 22 2,210 1,908
Tax recoverable AT UK [E1 7 T 305 -
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RIS 23 42,091 89,835
165,551 199,936
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade payables JEE SRR 24 392 1,698
Other payables and accruals E e R FERTIE 25 5,073 3,615
Contract liabilities GHBEE 26 1,691 2,732
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 1,894 -
Amount due to a holder of non-controlling & —RIIFERERIFEAZ
interests B 28 - 1,300
Tax payables FERTRRIA = 4,691
9,050 14,036
Net current assets REBEEFE 156,501 185,900
Total assets less current liabilities EERABAEHRAE 308,679 326,792
Non-current liability FEREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 2,826 -
Net assets EEFHE 305,853 326,792
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
SREBBAAR R K (E)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

R2019F 12 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P EE FET FAT

Capital and reserves EXK#E 29
Share capital &N 139,778 139,778
Reserves EE 165,636 185,161
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 72 &1 B A FE(h#Ess 305,414 324,939
Non-controlling interests FEIZERR A 439 1,853
Total equity FERBE 305,853 326,792

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue 474 BI 8% 2 MR 20205F3 A3 A= &t &
by the board of directors on 23 March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: LIERETIZ  WHTHEEREREE

Zhang Qing Gan Lin
RE HH
Director Director
EE EE
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. BEFT OB 5 A I S I FS TR MR D ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Attributable to owners of the Company

HZE2019F12A31BILFE

AREEETAERL
Non-
Share Share Merger ~ Statutory Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits ~ Subtotal interests equity
FER
BE  ROBE EOHREE LERE EXRE REEA et BE EndE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKE000  HK$'000
AT TR T THT T TR AT TET T
At 31 December 2017 ®2017%12A31H 139,778 148,287 17,941 508 546 3,682 310,642 2,699 313,341
Impact of adoption HKFRS 9 $R#VE BB 15 3R %R
ORI TE - - - - - ©) 8 ) (13)
At 1 January 2018 201851 718
(restated) (g=3)) 139,778 148287 17,941 508 546 3574 310,634 2694 313328
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 15,529 15,529 (1,008) 14,521
Other comprehensive FRNEMEERS
expenses for the year:
Exchange differences arising #EBINEBEL Y
on translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - (1,224) - (1,224) (13) (1,237)
Total comprehensive FR2E(FAZ)/
(expense)/income for the fhenr it
year - - - - (1,224) 15529 14,305 (1,021) 13,284
Capital contributions from non-78 B FEEE s 2 T &
controlling interests - - - - - - - 180 180
At 31 December 2018 and 1 742018%F12A31B K
January 2019 20191 A1H 139,778 148,287 17,941 508 (678) 19,103 324,939 1,853 326,792
Loss for the year FRER - - - - - (18,675)  (18,675) (1,409)  (20,084)
Other comprehensive FRNEMPERS
expenses for the year:
Exchange differences arising R EGINEBEL Y
on translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - (850) - (850) (5) (855)
Total comprehensive expense F N2 f 7 A%
for the year - - - - (850) (18,675) (19,525) (1,414) (20,939)
Transfer to statutory reserve S = ETEHE - - - 51 = (51) = = -
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12H31H 139,778 148,287 17,941 559 (1,528) 377 305,414 439 305,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

5 A A —1
e Eﬁﬁ)}m;i’%
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31BILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
PiEE FExT FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REKEETH2HERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEA(EE), % F (17,920) 18,459
Adjustments for: AR EIR
Bank interest income RITHEUA 7 8 (12)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBBEZFERE 10 429 -
Depreciation on property, plant and M - WEREETE
equipment 11 628 1,508
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE 11 2,874 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant ~ H&E9% - HiE K& EERE,
and equipment, net (Weam ) &8 8 25 (1)
Gain on lease modification and loss of MEBT &= RE SR TR
termination of lease, net 8 (225) -
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete ¥ 4 I @RS 17 & B 5
inventories 11 6 69
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment  FEUE 5 BR71 FE U E A
losses) of trade and loan receivables REEE CREEBEBRE) 9 31,422 (13)
Operating cash flows before working EEESHKERERE
capital 17,231 20,010
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,(38m) 2,930 (254)
Increase in trade receivables FEUNE 5 BR 538 (1,692) (1,656)
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables FEUREFR (1), R (54,418) 36,744
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HAbEWGRIE -« e RIBNFHIA
deposits and prepayments (), B (302) 705
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables FERESERCRD), 1 (1,306) 406
Increase in other payables and accruals E At JEA K2 FE ST FRIBIE AN 1,458 461
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities AHEECRD) & (1,041) 231
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to a holder Eﬁ—u#hﬂx%ﬁnhﬁ/\z
of non-controlling interest IO,/ 1N (1,300) 1,300
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (BR),/REKEZ RS (38,440) 57,947
Income tax paid BT ATISR (7,170) (4,363)
Net cash (used in)/generated from (AR),/REREEE RS THE
operating activities (45,610) 53,584
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
n"—.r\ IE:%/HLE% (lfﬁg)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
P sE FE T FAT
Cash flows from investing activities RERETE2EESHRE
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE  BMERRBZMAR
plant and equipment (854) (1,703)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME « WE REFEPTSHIE
plant and equipment 2,504 1
Bank interest received BRI THE 8 12
Net cash generated from/(used in) R, (AR)REZB2HL T
investing activities 1,658 (1,690)
Cash flows from financing activities REMEITBZ2EERE
Capital contributions from iR T A
non-controlling interests = 180
Interest element of lease liabilities paid ENHEHEE BN B 33 (429) -
Capital element of lease rental paid ENHERSNERTH 33 (2,517) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from (BAR),/RERETE 2B T
financing activities (2,946) 180
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBESESEYWORD) i
cash equivalents i (46,898) 52,074
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R1A1BMNEREERELSZEY 89,835 39,013
Effect of foreign exchange rate NEERESBH 2 HETFHE
changes, net (846) (1,252)
Cash and cash equivalents at M12A3TENRERELEEY
31 December 42,091 89,835

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fal= b E S B RS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31BILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 31
March 2011, as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law Cap. 22 of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9005, Cayman lIslands. The address of its principal
place of business is Suite 2101, 21/F, Chinachem Century Tower, 178
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as the “Group”)
are: (1) the provision of integrated circuit (“IC”) solutions and the design,
development and sales of ICs; (2) money lending business in Hong Kong
through the provision of unsecured and secured loans to customers,
including individuals and corporations under the provisions of the Money
Lenders Ordinance; and (3) the provision of investment and planning
consulting service, real estate agent, property management services
and car parking management services in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs
(the “New and Amendments to HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in

iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

PR 25T BB B S 3R 5 2 B
([EBHEREER )R
S

=~

eI B RMBREENREETT
ARAEERFEN

REEE AR L E BRI T BB g
MAG(EBGHITLR ) BHOFTES
BT R S5 A LS AT A ([ HT AT BB B 5 8

the current year:

SRR EERTA])

HKFRS 16 Leases EHEMBHREERE HE
165%
HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments R (BIRMBHRE  AEHERENTEE
“REZEE)-2 M
T35
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative BRYHREENE ABFamMENERINE
Compensation QSRR A R
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or BRGRTERIE199 FHEIEE] - HRess
Settlement KIEET A b |
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and BERGFTERE28% REE ARG &
Joint Ventures HIEETAR R RHER
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs ERVEMELELR BEMBIHREER
2015-2017 Cycle (ZEIEN 20155 220174
BEAF E e

BN FratE - RANFE BRI B A M5
BEEREBIAEAREEE§ SBESF
EHRBRRARKRR RSt E5E R
RTEERELEEATE

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. EAFIEAMEHRELER

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), and
the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard to
contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which already
existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract
contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and measured right-of-use assets at the carrying amounts
as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since commencement date,
but discounted using the incremental borrowing rates of the
relevant group entities at the date of initial application by applying
HKFRS 16.C8(b)(i) transition. Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the opening retained profits and
comparative information has not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

2. BRI EBMEHREER
((EEMBREEDRR
(EHENC)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are T BB EREENREIEET

mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following practical
expedients to leases previously classified as operating leases
under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to
the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous
by applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review;

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months of
the date of initial application;

excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use
assets at the date of initial application;

2R A 2N 6 BZ 5 46 A Rk ()

2.1 HBMBREERFE16SHEE (R
FERATN (8)
BRI R BB B RS £ S
165778 T M4 sTIB WDARS - A% @
R RRELEREATIREE B G
AIEI7THA BRCERERRSHE

ANAENEERAUTAITEES

%

KB BEAE LG ERFEI7
B RARBBERIREEE
RBERISERTR  FHEEE
ERBEE

i EETEEMSNERER AR
128 AR RNEEERER
REEREEEE

ii. RERERAHEEREEE
B HIBR IR B IR

iv.  applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a iv.  EERLUEEIRSE R R ORI 84
similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets HAEEMBRURAERNOHEEAR
in similar economic environment. Specifically, discount rate AEAE—MBRE - AEMmME -
for certain leases of properties in PRC was determined on a FEETYEREMNIRETZ
portfolio basis, and HEEEETE &

v.  used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at date v. MBREREXERBHOEERE

of initial application in determining the lease term for the
Group’s leases with extension and termination options.

MERERTAEEARETH
TR RS RN RS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2.

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified
as operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing
rates of the relevant group entities at the date of initial application.
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied by the
relevant group entities range from 4.75% to 5.125%.

R EBMEHREER
((EAMBREERNDRE
CHEENCY

BB EREER R EIEET
2R A 2N 6 BZ 5 46 A Rk ()

2.1 BHEUKHRELENFE165HE (HE)
TEBHETEN (&)
REMDBEACEAHENHERRHEE
BER  AEBEXRBREAEHES
RSB ERMIESETTE - 1B%E
BB BEE A R IR g S EFFEN
TF4.75%%5.125% ©

HK$°000
FHET
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at R2018F12 431 B B EEAIE
31 December 2018 6,982
Less: total future interest expenses B ARRF B AR (499)
Less: commitments relating to leases exempt from B AR EARNEE R A EE
capitalisation:
— short term leases with remaining lease term — 8 NHEIRN20196F12 A31 Bk 2 B4
ending on or before 31 December 2019 REZHEIARE (298)
Less: other — exchange realignment W Efh— R (16)
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 1R ERNHEEGE 6,169
Analysed as: b2k =
Current mED 1,888
Non-current IERE 4,281
6,169

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019
comprises the following:

R2019F1 1M AREEEREE
BRI

HK$’000
FTHET

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases FER BB K5 ERIFE 165 B ERML
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 HEAHENEREEE 6,169
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

2. BRAMERMBHREER
([HBMBRELER D RHE

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessor
In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition for
leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these leases
in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application
and comparative information has not been restated.

(@ Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts entered
into but commence after the date of initial application relating
to the same underlying assets under existing lease contracts
are accounted as if the existing leases are modified as at
1 January 2019. The application has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position at 1
January 2019. However, effective 1 January 2019, lease
payments relating to the revised lease term after modification
are recognised as income on straight-line basis over the
extended lease term.

(b) Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental deposits
received were considered as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under trade and other
payables. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to
the right-of-use assets and were adjusted to reflect the
discounting effect at transition.

(c) Effective on 1 January 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to
allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and non-
lease components.

CHENC

BB EREER R EIEET
2R A 2N 6 BZ 5 46 A Rk ()

2.1 HERMBRELRF165EE @)

BTN
RGBTSR R R 169 %
X AEEBANAEEALEALD
BERBER I BT - AR
BB BT R 5 B 56 169 5 2R A
AEE AR SAEAR - BAMETIL
AR -

@ EEHEEMBHREEDFEI6E
% - BEARABHELIE T HEREE
BEMBIVEREXERRH
BRI FRAOABNIRARE
R2019F 1 A1 BHESETRASE ©
e S AL ER2019F1 A1H
R E M BRARTELE - A
M R2019F1 A1EER - B
PMEFTERSETHEMBEENR
TR EREMCIE R RRER
BN -

b)) EABETBHHEELE165
Al BERAIEEAERSEIEA
EEAEBSTESE175ME
EETHEMNRET - RESA
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HHTEE  BHREKSTIERERH
FAREENNRITEFAEUR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RS B AR M A ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 Impacts on opening consolidated statement of
financial position arising from the application of all

new standards

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January
2019. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not

been included.

2. BRAMERMBHREER

((EEMBREEDRR
(EHENC)

A BRI HREER RIS

2R A 2N 6 BZ 5 46 A Rk ()

22 FERFFEFERSHIERS IR
MREENTE

20191 A1 B4R G BB RER
MEFACEHUTHEE - TRE8) 2
FIEE W EBIEER -

Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts
reported at under HKFRS 16
31 December at 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
"2019%1H1A
KRR RIBE B
2018412831 H HRELERE165
2RV EREE ik HYBRE{E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT FET FAET
Non-current Assets FREBEE
Right-of-use assets EREAE - 6,169 6,169
Current Liabilities RENIEE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 1,888 1,888
Non-current Liabilities RBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE - 4,281 4,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but

not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1 and 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Insurance Contracts'

Definition of a Business?

Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Definition of Material*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

The application of all other new and amendment to HKFRS, and the
new interpretations is not expected to have material impact on the
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

2.@%%%@%%&%%%%

FERMBHREMIATEEMEREEI L EE
AR RERNTALEETE
BRREKERTE -

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

([EBHHHREER )

=~
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FE175R
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EEE SRS 2R WEEEAR AR
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BN
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EEE SRS 2R Fl| SR EL Ry &4

FOR - BBEE
HEBI|FE 395 K B
BIISsR 2RI SE75%
BT AR

! 202141 A1 B 2 R MR FE B4

o4

2 AULEE B BR A7 202041 A1 B8 2 & Fith

M EEFEREOBMTRENEEE R
BENBIRAEXR

3 IAFFTE B B 2 1% B 46 B0 F T2 BRI AR 2K
‘ 7202041 A1 B 2 R MR F E B4

o4

E315)

FRETEEEGRAT 20195/ 80



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. TESTTHEE

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs which collective term includes
all applicable individual HKFRSs, HKASs and Interpretations issued by
HKICPA, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosures provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, unless it is stated the otherwise, that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and
its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and

circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in
an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

. the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size
and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

° potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group
has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHHE@
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) HEEEm@)
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from E"WJ% A B FEE AR R s B AR £ B A 5% B B
the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests NAMERSHAZY - IHERERERTH
entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the BE AR O EHRERBARE
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation. EFREARR AR o
Change in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in fim AN S [ RO BT B A Bl e e 2 S B D IS BUR
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby KEHIE - A ARV BRERS - BIFAE
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling FRE RS A RYIE S R IEIE Hl S S R
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative REMEEEREE  ETSHABRRERTE
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is TR o
recognised.
When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a B AR E R A — R B A B AR A
disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or BARIBHERZMEA TE’J’i\uE%ﬁ{l ;
loss being recognised in profit or loss. P £ VBB R AR o
Goodwill Gk
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as AW —EREBEENREIRWEEEE
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated H MRS 2EHREEE (I8 ) 78R

impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each HREAETNE  BEIEEBRHEZENE
of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) (or group of cash- HHpRABENAEBESREELEN([ES
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the EABM](BReEESMNMAER) - MzE
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is sk B AARIEBLNEBEE B E’Jﬁk? EESED)
monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an BIEKF HARETKREE 556

operating segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated BB ReELEN(RReELE
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is R EFFETRENR - R EMN Y
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an TR BT REFE IR SR B - gt i B
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which AWBEENEENS  BEOREFENRE
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of EEBN(FReEEBLAR)RRE R
that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying BIESTRVERIE - MBS 5 DR ERE
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying B ABEEEE X RIS EREE
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis MEREE  ERIZSBHEEMGSEAM(EE
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of SEABMAR)MERmELHSEEHA
CGUs). BE o

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, or any of the CGU HERBERCEEEMNIREELEMNAR
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is included W MERIR S EE BN T“ziﬁ’%ﬁﬁ_ﬁﬁ
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When BN ARERESE - EASBEEER
the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-generating unit (or i?iﬁh(jfiiéiﬁu HARIRNE S E
a CGU within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill disposed of EBM)AMERE - THERESE IR
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation (or the FritEXB(IMNEeELEMN) RFIRER S
CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs) EEBEM(FReELBMAR]) DAL
retained. BEE -

83 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the
Group has the power to control. The Group controls an entity where
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Investments in subsidiaries presented in the statement of financial
position included in note 37 are stated at cost less any impairment
losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment
of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the remaining goods or
services promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself
(i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before
that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the
provision of the specified good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or service provided by
another party before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by the
other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the Group
assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of office that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property or inventory in “property, plant and equipment”,
the same line item within which the corresponding underlying assets
would be presented if they were owned. Right-of-use assets that meet
the definition of investment property are presented within “investment
properties”.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review or expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1) (Continued)

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to
reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease maodification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When
the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the
lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a
finance lease obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see
the accounting policy below). Contingent rentals are recognised as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising under operating
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

Lease incentives relating to operating leases are considered as integral
part of lease payments, the aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement
of the net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

91 Ne

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases (Continued)

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.

The Group as a lessor (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2.1)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the
Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate consideration in a contract to lease
and non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated from
lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease
and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid
or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the
lease payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on
monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for
which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to
profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests in
associates/joint ventures.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence
or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHHE@®

(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Effective 1 January 2019, any specific borrowing that remain
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale
is included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plan

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the
MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF scheme vest
immediately. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in fund under the control of trustees.

The PRC subsidiary of the Group also participates in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (“the PRC Scheme”) organised
by the PRC municipal and provincial government authorities whereby
the PRC subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll to the retirement benefit scheme. The Group has accrued
for the required contributions which are remitted to the respective local
government authorities when the contributions become due. The local
government authorities are responsible for the pension obligations
payable to the retired employees covered under the PRC Schemes.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of
the schemes. The Group has no other material obligation for payment of
retirement benefits beyond the contributions as described above.

Termination benefit

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when it recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEETHEHEK®W
(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued) EEEF (5
Share option scheme BT E
The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of ZIK"’ AR E —IBEREE  AEERAR
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute EENKNEHBERMNGE2HER
to the success of the Group's operations. Employees (including f %ﬁ%ﬂfﬂﬁﬁb AEEREB(BIEES)MNU
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based R BERAT IR Z 5 NUEEREN - WiE & 8
payments whereby employees render services as consideration for RHEBEAEaIAZRE(BEEER
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). 1) e
For share options granted under the share option scheme, the fair MIREERETERE CERENS - EE
value of the employee’s services rendered in exchange for the grant of FriR AR IS BV S I iR i 2 N P EER A
the options is recognised as an expense and credited to share option X - Wit AR AR ERERE - BB
reserve under equity. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting Mz Az 2RE L AR ERES
period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted NEEEE -  REMSER - NEB(EF]E
at the grant date. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises SRR Al AT IEAR BB 2 fhEt « HR4R
its estimates of the number of options that is expected to become AlEE N EMEERERAERETREH
exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of the original STCER) 2B R T R E B A B iR AR
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RE 2 EERAE -
other comprehensive income, and a corresponding adjustment to share
option reserve over the remaining vesting period.
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum iMEEmEE MM IGERBMEE - THER
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified if i S A D 7B 32 B T 0 R R A0 fE AT ] S22 B A 0K
the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is F (i SR R B IR EK) o LI - WE
recognised for any modification, which increases the total fair value of REERERE - AE Bﬁ\&fﬁllfkﬂx@ﬁﬁ
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as BARNBRAFERFTEMN - K EER?
measured at the date of modification. HibhFz - RIERZSE B RERAMAS -
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had ﬁﬁﬁu%ﬁiﬁm\%ﬁuﬁﬁ AR BRI E
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised BB ﬁﬁhﬂiﬁiéﬁ#&@ﬁlﬁ@i@ﬁ’ﬂﬂﬂ%ﬁﬁ
for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is //\Eﬂﬁﬁ%lf/{ﬁﬁ WA —IEET IR ENER
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement RE LR - &E’\\ﬁﬂjﬁé HiEIEE BiZ
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are WME B R - BIRZC s s aRBN R E 3R BN
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described WRBRE R ®) (R EEFT) o
in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share MARITEREREN T EERENAES

dilution in the computation of earnings per share, if any. AR & F| (a0 ) R RSN (D B o

95 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from profit before tax because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates and interests
in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part
of the assets to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR5 B 7% R A P EE ()
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity
by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms due to
application of the initial recognition exemption.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings and leasehold land
(classified as finance leases) held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their estimated residual value over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose during the reporting period are as follows:

Computer equipment 30%-31.7%

Instruments 20%
Office equipment 19%-30%
Motor vehicles 25%-30%

20%
Over the lease term

Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvement

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHHE@®

(Continued)

Tangible assets

Impairment on tangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Tangible assets (Continued)

Impairment on tangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-
generating units, with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Impairment on tangible assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or the group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or the group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHHE@®

(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated on the first-in-first-out basis and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in
which the reversal occurs.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective
is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term;

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

()  Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method

for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired
(see below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured
at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other net gains/(losses) line
item.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, loan receivables, other
receivables and bank balances) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

U

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group

presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial

asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of

default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(V)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

] Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

107 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019

3. FESHEEX @

EFT Bum

EREEE)
THEERE(E)
(v) MUEHECE

REBRBRETF R ABREMRREE
B I 8 E R UK B 5108 Y A] BE s (120 4
FHEBBRIEAWERRF - NEE
SMHEEREE - KERERER (W
MK EMENEREEDARE
REEE O FFET TR BIITITE
MSHRERAR LR ST - EEREE

= SALE L Ty
SRIETIR B RER o

EHEE R AT 8 MR

RHEEBIENTEIURNE OB X -
BRBRRX(AIHRROBNERER)
SRR o FHHE AR SRR
FENIZATHE L ERHET TR ESL B
BEL - REEEBENG RBRRE
IR F) AR S 40 R\ T A FE O R 1 BB S
B -

—RiME - REEEEBRDRRESH
ENAEBNMAERARE REEANE
B TE BRI B R A ST O BB M R B
EMBERREREZRNERE
HEREEERRBBEESFEIDS
@R TRKFEBERBFHENER - 8
SR EIRIATEAESAA -

e TRTAMHESR:

o AHUR

o EHANMME RARERITE: R

o SMBEEIA(fER) -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each financial assets of the Group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESTHHE@®

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables and accruals,
contract liabilities, lease liabilities and amount due to a holder of non-
controlling interests are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal
or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that the
Group will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision
are expected to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Related parties
(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:
(i)  has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent.

3.

iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions

applies:

U

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any members of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity.
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3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Segment report

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purpose of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period
that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit (or a group of cash-
generating units) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows, a material impairment loss/
further impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying
amount of goodwill is HK$137,448,000 (2018: HK$137,448,000) (net
of accumulated impairment loss). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 18.
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iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loan
receivables

Loan receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired are
assessed for ECL individually. In addition, the Group uses provision
matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors
that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without undue
costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the Group’s trade receivable and the ECL are
disclosed in notes 20 and 35(b).

Impairment loss on loan receivables represent management’s best
estimate of losses incurred in the loan portfolio at the reporting date
under ECL models. Management assesses whether the credit risk of
loan receivables have increased significantly since their initial recognition
and apply a three-stage impairment model to calculate their ECL.
The Group is required to exercise judgement in making assumptions
and estimates when calculating loan impairment loss, including any
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from loans portfolio and historical
loss experience on the basis of the relevant observable data that
reflects current economic conditions. The provision of ECL is sensitive
to changes in estimates. The information about the Group’s loan
receivables and the ECL are disclosed in notes 21 and 35(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. EFFTPRERZRNEERR
UNCERTAINTY (continued) (%)
Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete HEERBRFENERE
inventories
Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made based 5 MR T E BB IR IBF B VAR
on the ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The RAGFHEIRFAEMEL o FHEBERE L R
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgment and estimates. ETAERT o W BB ERERERKEFT
Where the actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate, Al EHEZEKEHEAGTERZAMEY
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and the FEREBEMNR BOREETE -

allowance charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. FEBEH
(i) Segment results () PEEE

Information reported to the board of directors of the Company, MARBEES(METEEERKSE

being the chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”), for the ([E22EREE]))Z2MUSEER

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment RaHE D ERIBAER - ZEFNEE

performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or kiR ARSI R R o

provided.

The Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows: REERBEEMBEHREERESRA

AIZ2MAHAT ¢

- IC business — design development services income and sales - EKERES - K5 FAERS
of ICs; WAFISHE A ER

- Money lending business — interest income; and - HEEB-FERA K

- Property management business — management services - UEEEEE - EERRBWAK
income and rental income. WA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 5. 7EER @
(i) Segment results (Continued) () DEBELE(

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue, profit, assets
and liabilities by reportable operating segments:

AT RER 2

Wz

WD R B D AREE
BELBEZDN:

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HZ2019F12A1 ALFE

Money Property
IC Lending Management Total
ERER & MEEE &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET FHEx FET
Reportable segment revenue 2o B
Revenue from external customers X BINAR PR 7,363 19,093 35,879 62,335
Reportable segment (loss)/profit A2/HIER),mF (3,756) (15,602) 13,186 (6,172)
Bank interest income and unallocated  $R1TH EBUA R AR D FilkzEE
gains/(losses) (E518) 363
Corporate and other unallocated EREMADRAS
expenses (12,107)
Finance cost IS E A @)
Loss before tax BRI EE (17,920)
Segment assets NEEE 2,946 127,929 186,137 317,012
Corporate and unallocated assets TrERRDIEE n7
Total assets BEE 317,729
Segment liabilities DEEE 437 1,603 8,604 10,644
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TrENRKRAEERE 1,232
Total liabilities BwaE 11,876
Other segment information Hith 5 E &R
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  BEREETE
equipment 470 114 35 619
Unallocated depreciation ROMITE 9
628
Depreciation on right-of-use assets CRREENE 473 966 1,331 2,770
Unallocated depreciation ROEIE 104
2,874
Additions to property, plant and REWE  BEREE
equipment 559 295 - 854
Impairment loss on loan receivables B REEE - 30,220 = 30,220
Impairment loss on trade receivables ~ [EUE ZERFREE 1R 147 - 1,055 1,202
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete & & i@ 17 S
inventories 6 - - 6
Loss on disposal of property, plant and  HE&EE « BiE KR iEREE
equipment 15 9 1 25
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 5. DEPEFR @
(i) Segment results (Continued) (i) DEPEE
For the year ended 31 December 2018
BZ20185F12A31BIEFE
Money Property
IC Lending  Management Total
SERERK W& MEERE =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAEL FAEL FET
Reportable segment revenue BEEGEle
Revenue from external customers 2R 85N P H) Uz 16,611 20,430 39,287 76,328
Reportable segment (loss)/profit 7] 2D EF(E518) /3% T (2,553) 15,638 16,911 29,996
Bank interest income and RITFIBMARA DB/
unallocated gains/(losses) (E18) 42
Corporate and other unallocated 7% & H b AR D EFI 2
expenses (11,579
Profit before tax BRAEATEF 18,459
Segment assets DHEE 9,090 158,173 171,231 338,494
Corporate and unallocated assets {23 R A DB & E 2,334
Total assets BEE 340,828
Segment liabilities HEEE 3,824 5,916 3,082 13,722
Corporate and unallocated rERAHEEE
liabilities 314
Total liabilities A 14,036
Other segment information Hih 5 AR
Depreciation of property, plant ~ #1% « BE &R ETE
and equipment 1,132 296 57 1,485
Unallocated depreciation RO E 23
1,508
Additions to property, plant and REE  BE KR
equipment 1,605 44 54 1,703
Reversal of impairment losses on JEUNE 5 B8R FURE 1B B
trade receivables (13) - - (13)
Provision for slow-moving and ~ #$5 & B 17 EHHE
obsolete inventories 69 - - 69
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE -« BE KEENRE
plant and equipment - - 1) (1)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same LB EH BT BER BA SR B R @ 5K
as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit represent the KAERE o D EEAE B B9 EBHENE &
profit earned by each segment without allocation of corporate M- TEEDBLRFEITEKA « EEE
administration costs, directors’ emoluments, other gains and & Hlas REBRARAEHAS
losses, and income tax expenses. This is the measure reported TR EE L ERREZRADRER
to the CODM for the purposed of resources allocation and Ratd o 2P R IBAIENIR -

assessment of segment performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued) 2 EBE B )

(i) Segment results (Continued) () DEBEE @

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated LA E23HE D BREIRINAETFEER

from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales W3 - HE2019F12 831 B IEFEIL

during the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil). EHIEIEE (20185 « ) ©

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and BERNERARIEERESDE ¢

allocating resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to operating segments other than o EHBENRELEDIL - MR
unallocated assets. Goodwill is allocated to operating DA ER 57|\ c BN EEE
segments; and DEb R

e all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than o E2HBEIRELEDIL - MR
unallocated liabilities. DEEERIN o

(i) Information about major customers (i) EFEXEFHER

No information about major customers is presented as no single HRREE2019F 201812 A31H 1+

customer individually contributed to over 10% of the Group’s FE > TES-—FFEREEAEEK

revenue for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. miBIE10% - W WEZIFEEER
FH&ER -
(iii) Geographic information (iii) HEEE

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC.
The geographical location of customers is based on the location of
the customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods or services.
The geographical location of the non-current assets is based on
the physical location of the asset, in the case of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets. The Group’s revenue
from external customers by geographical location of customers

AEENEBURNEERTE - TFPH
IR ETIREBEERFMETE - M

T EMRIGHRIFIE - BIE - B
FEEREANBEERENS @ FFRH
BENMBUENREEENER DI
ME - NEBREPHRUESR D KA
SNREF PRV MR E E B S D

and information about its non-current assets (other than loan BHREERDEE(BRERBRINKE
receivables) by geographical location of the assets are set out BT
below:
Revenue information from external customers REMREFHRZER
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (EEH) 18,135 25,979
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan # & - T EEES 38,085 48,093
Korea 15 21 94
Taiwan = 97 159
Russia RAEHT 1,037 1,378
The United States of America =35 1,398 624
Canada EXR 3,562 -
Others Hi - 1
62,335 76,328
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5. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (Continued)

(iii) Geographic information (Continued)

Non-current assets information (excluding loan

receivables)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

D EE R @)

(iii) HEEE @

FRBEEER (BWRERRIM)

2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT
Hong Kong (place of domicile) EFA(EEM) 1,565 213
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong and Taiwan A& » NEEEER 140,873 137,675
Taiwan = 740 3,004
143,178 140,892
REVENUE £
Revenue represents the net invoice value of goods sold after allowances WEEFREHRREREETINERRED
for returns and trade discounts, the value of services rendered, and EEMNBEFE - FTREREHERKK
interest income from money lending business during the year. An BIREEBHFEUWA o REBBWEE DT
analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: U
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Revenue from contracts with customers REFEFEHNKE
Sales of ICs HESEKER 6,880 14,023
Provision of ASIC services IREASICAR 483 2,588
Provision of property management services IREYEEERS 35,879 39,287
Revenue from other sources R E E AR W
Interest from money lending business G EH]E 19,093 20,430
62,335 76,328
Timing of revenue recognition W s R SR B
A point of time F— AR 25 6,880 14,023
Over time Pt P P 55,455 62,305
62,335 76,328
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HEbA
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Interest income from: FEIA -
- Bank deposit - RITIFHK 8 12
- Others - Htb 1,320 774
Disbursement income from waste disposal FEVIEE IR /S A 265 118
Compensation income HEWRA 120 74
Income from sourcing and distribution of PR R SR EEM B
construction materials 348 -
Sundry income FIFA 174 162
2,235 1,140
8. OTHER NET GAINS/(LOSSES) 8. Hfthlizm ~(E518)F4E
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FExT FET
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BMERREZ(BEB),/
equipment, net &yt (29) 1
Gain on lease modification and loss of HEEFTWaE MR EEEFRE
termination of lease, net 225 -
Exchange gain/(loss), net PE R s (B8 )35 2 (41)
202 (40)

9. (IMPAIRMENT LOSSES)/REVERSAL OF
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF TRADE AND

LOAN RECEIVABLES

9. RIWBE SRR NEBWERH
ORERE),BEEERE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T
Impairment losses (recognised)/reversed on: AT BIE(FER), /B ERERE
— trade receivables (note 20) - W E 5 BRFR (FiI5E20) (1,202) 13
— loan receivables (note 21) - ERE R (KEE21) (30,220) -
(31,422) 13
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

10.FINANCE COST 10. & A
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBEBEFNERX 429 -
11.(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 11.BBAI(EBE) &3
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT
(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived at after B AT (EE), & AMEHNGR
charging/(crediting): (Bt ) AT&IBEY -
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment Y% - BB LT e 628 1,508
Depreciation on right-of-use assets" EREEETE 2,874 -
3,502 1,508
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) BEIAN(BEEEME)
— Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind -¥e  FEMEEYER 15,858 19,684
— Retirement benefits contributions —RREFIET MR 995 1,221
16,853 20,805
Auditor’s remuneration (2 Gl
— audit services - B RIS 700 650
— other services - H b AR7S 711 60
Cost of inventories FEKA 5,529 9,706
Design and development costs AT R BAE R AR 522 1,008
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment losses) A & TEHBIEES IR, Ol (B 518 B
on EIp)
— trade receivables - BN SRR 1,202 (13)
— loan receivables - BN E R 30,220 -
Exchange (gain)/loss, net PE X (W), KsBFE (7)) 41
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREEEER
equipment, net (Wzs ) 558 25 (1)
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventories & & 18 i 15 &5 B & 6 69
# Cost of sales and services included approximately HK$1,023,000 for # HZE2019F12A31HILEFE $#HE KR
the year ended 31 December 2019 relating to depreciation on right-of- BRARIEEFERAEEENERTBRANY
use assets which amount is also included in the total amount disclosed 1,023,000 7T * BN EE LEZ D
separately in above expenses. RIBERH RN o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Remuneration of Directors

Directors’ remuneration for the year disclosed pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

122.EERAERSHMALH

[

(a) EEME
RIEGEM T8 B R BB R A& HI 5
3ER AR (FEESHEER) R
BlEMIFEAFENERFHOT

Year ended 31 December 2019

HZ2019F12A31HLLFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefits
Name of Director Directors’ fee inkind contributions Total
e 2R BIRER
BExpnR £k REWEA sHEER &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THET T TR
Executive Directors HITEE
ZHANG Qing (Chairman) RE(F/E) - 2,439 18 2,457
SUNG Tak Wing Leo RSEE(FTEc#E ) (M=EG)

(Chief Executive Officer) (Note (i) - 993 8 1,001
LAU Mo (Note (i) B (PR (i) - 1,232 18 1,250
Non-Executive Director FHITES
LIU Kam Lung BaiE 152 - - 152
Independent Non-Executive BIYEHTES

Directors
CHEUNG Chi Man Dennis REX 197 - - 197
KO Yin Wai (Note (ii)) = B & (FIEE (i) 47 - - 47
CHIU Yu Wang LR 152 - - 152
GAO Jinkang (Note (iv)) EEEAGE) 48 - - 48
Total CEl 596 4,664 44 5,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

12.EERABREFMALTH
€

() EEME @

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Remuneration of Directors (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

HZE2018F12A318 IHFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits benefits
Name of Director Directors’ fee inkind  contributions Total
He - R RINEF
EEScE EEX0kn REWMER SHEIR &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FHL FHET
Executive Directors HITES
ZHANG Qing (Chairman) RE(FE) - 2,392 18 2,410
SUNG Tak Wing Leo RIGER(TTEA#EZ) ()

(Chief Executive Officer) (Note (i)) - 2,386 18 2,404
LAU Mo (Note (i) B (PR 3 Gi)) - 1,342 18 1,360
Non-Executive Director *HTES
LIU Kam Lung BoiE 138 - - 138
Independent Non-Executive BYEHTES

Directors
CHEUNG Chi Man Dennis REX 178 - - 178
KO Yin Wai (Note (ii)) = B1E (i) 138 - - 138
CHIU Yu Wang fizhr N 138 - - 138
Total &t 592 6,120 54 6,766
Note: MisE
()  Resigned on 22 May 2019 )  F2019F5H22HEHT
(i)  Passed away on 21 December 2019 (i) F20195F12 21 HEktH
(i)  Resigned on 3 May 2019 (i)  H20199F5 A3HEHT
(v)  Appointed on 3 May 2019 (iv) F2019F5A3HEZRT

The emoluments shown above for executive directors were mainly

for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The fees for the non-executive
director and independent non-executive directors were mainly for
their services as directors of the Company.

EXFRRBRTEEH e T EREEE
BARRNBRAEENEHER - AT
EEREVRTESHS T RARSE
BEARBE=EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

12. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Remuneration of Directors (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019. No inducement
payments to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office were paid or payable to any director or the chief
executive officer for the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2019.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, no share
options were granted to the directors, in respect of their services
to the Group under the share option scheme of the Company.
Details of the share option scheme and basis are set out in note
30.

Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included 3 (2018: 3) directors of the Company, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 12(a) above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining 2 (2018: 2) highest paid
individuals are as follows:

12.EERABREFMALTH
€

(@)

(b)

EEME @

RELZE2018F K 2019F12 B31H IEF
B BEEERERTRASMENKR
EMESMMESOLHE - REZE2018
FR2019FE12 A31HILFE - #iE A
FRESHERITIRA B THERE
BINMAREE S IMARE B RE S E
AR AEE -

REZE2018F 2 2019F12 A31 H IEF
B BERESREANARBRETE
AAEBERERBMRAKER TER
R o BERRIERT 8 R EER B RN R
30

TERSHMALHME

FER - AEENTIERSFMALTE
o BEARNGFSK(2018%F 1 34)
EE - HHFBFBIIA EXHFE124)
oo FRHBT2E(2018F : 2% )&=
FHATOFBEFSOT

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EREREWRER 1,109 1,516
Retirement benefits contributions RUNERFTEI R 25 34
1,134 1,650

The remuneration of 2 (2018: 2) non-director highest paid
individuals with the highest were all within the band HK$1,000,000.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, no
share options were granted to these non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees, in respect of their services to
the Group under the share option scheme of the Company. Details
of the share option scheme are set out in note 30 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

123 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019

224 (20184 : 2% ) N IEE
E &= 5 A A EBIE1,000,000/8
TTEBERA -

REE2018F 2019512 A31HILE
& BERELIEENIEESTTHA
B E RS IRIEAD A EARE 2
ABAEERHREMAESETER
o B SN BRN AR EGRA
B TR ERMIFE30 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. Frf8 BB XX
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Current tax: BNEATHIA -
— Hong Kong Profit Tax - BBNIEH - 1,198
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) - PRPESH(EEMSER]) 2,184 2,655
(Over)/under provision in prior year BETFE (BRERE) BB (20) 85
Income tax expenses for the year FRFEHAX 2,164 3,938

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the qualifying group entity is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2
million.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% (2018: 25%) except that M1)I| FHTiB & EEIE AR
A AP EHTEE”) is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% according
to the FREBAFE(BEFTSEUERINK which is applied to PO)!| EHTEE
during the year until 31 December 2020.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

R2018F3H21H « BB A BEIA2017
FHEUSET) (B75H) GHER([EHE
=])  SIARBFNERBEERGE - EHIER
M2018F3A28A%ENX AAEINE R T
T o MBEMBMNEBBEGE  cEREHE
BB E2E &8 i M % 128.25% /) Fi %
BH - MEBE2E B TAEMAIZ16.5%
R RET - TFEMAFESHBEFEE
BHEET NGB EEEF16.5%M 4
— TR o

Wit EEREBEEBNESNEB A
B2B BB A ERTE F)128.25% B &
FTE R HBIB2H B T Al ET SR T s B iR
16.5% T EFHH o

RIEPEPEAMEH ([ EMEH ) ERD
EAERUEEIIES - FRNBAR ZBHE
A25%(20184F : 25%) » W) HTEEEE
BARAR(EIERE]DBRIN - RER
) AT T AR IR RSP A F B e E TS TR
HEREEZEEEANISHNEERERES
2020412 A31H

Hofth b [ FE ER At ) O B TR 4% AN R B A 2 P
HEREREBMBRITHEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before tax
at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the

13. Fr 8860 X )

BRIERNARE RE AR B A B M
AR BREAT (B1R), s AR E B G
BIZHEMRX  BRERHEAEZHIER

effective tax rates are as follows: TR
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEiAT (E518), SR T (17,920) 18,459
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5% RBEANE16.5% (20184 : 16.5%)

(2018: 16.5%) STEMTIE (2,957) 3,046
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TRIIRAE Y W ET 2 832 419
Tax effect of non-taxable income IERTRMAMTRIET 2 (38) -
Tax effect of temporary differences RIEREHEZEANIESE

not recognised 67 (281)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIEE BN IETE 4,607 968
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior years B S EH) (FBEEEE ) BET B (20) 85
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBFEERELENMNBARN

operating in other jurisdictions TR ENHIBETE (327) (299)
Income tax expenses for the year FRABRHAY 2,164 3,938

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has unused tax loss arising in
Hong Kong of approximately HK$73,644,000 (2018: HK$45,723,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
tax loss due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

14.DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared or paid during the year ended 31 December

2019 (2018: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R 3k BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. 8R (E5#E), &R
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to RAREA ANEEFRER(ER), /BT
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BEATEUERTE -

(Loss)/earnings (E518) B
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHIT

(Loss)/earnings for the purpose of calculating R EERERREE(CRAR
basic and diluted per share ((loss)/profit for the B AEIGERN(EE),HF))H

year attributable to owners of the Company) (E18) %A (18,675) 15,529
Number of shares IR
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
’000 000
TR T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for 15 I& 357 23 FI| ) 2 38 AR D1 7 15 81
purpose of basic earnings per share 1,397,782 1,397,782
For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, dilutive earnings/(loss) HZE2018F K2019F12A31HIEFE + 1
per share has not been calculated as there is no potential dilutive shares RN S B TIE SN B B IR D - S 5T
outstanding. BEEREERT,(BE) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RS B AR M A ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. 3% - BMERRE

Computer Office Motor Furniture Leasehold
Equipment  Instruments  Equipment Vehicles and Fixtures Improvement Total
ElRE IR HAERHE AE BEAREE BEVERE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET TET T FAT FHET FHET TAET
Cost BA
At 1 January 2018 201841 A1H 522 13,418 187 120 199 1,111 15,557
Additions B 56 1,591 34 - 22 - 1,703
Disposal HeE - - © - - - o)}
Exchange realignment S RCE 1) - @ 6) - @ (11)
At 31 December 2018 and #2018F12A318 %

1 January 2019 201951 A1H 577 15,009 210 114 221 1,109 17,240
Additions B - 559 5 - 6 284 854
Disposal HE (294) (7,184) (20) - (86) (150) (7,734)
Exchange realignment B 5 AR @) - (1) 2] - ) ©)
At 31 December 2019 R2019412A318 281 8,384 194 112 141 1242 10,354
Accumulated depreciation RiHE
At 1 January 2018 7201851418 438 10,762 108 25 108 862 12,303
Charge for the year FRZH 58 1,110 57 28 38 217 1,508
Written back on disposals R EREE - - ©) - - - )
Exchange realignment I 5 R (1) - @ 2] - ) ©)
At 31 December 2018 and 20185123318 R

1 January 2019 2019F1A1H 495 11,872 154 51 146 1,078 13,796
Charge for the year FRZH 37 461 3 27 27 4 628
Written back on disposals R EREE (284) (4,689) (13) - (69) (150) (5,205)
Exchange realignment B A (1) - (1) (1) - (1) @
At 31 Decernber 2019 #2019512A31A 247 7,644 175 77 104 968 9,215
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2019 ®2019412A318 34 740 19 35 37 274 1,139
At 31 December 2018 #2018412A318 82 3,137 56 63 75 31 3,444
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17.EFAEEE
Leased
properties
HEwE
HK$’000
FAET
Cost 5N
At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 201841 A1H &2018F12A31H -
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS16 (note 2.1) FER BB R E AR E 165518 AR
(BizE2.1) 6,169
At 1 January 2019 20191 A1H 6,169
Additions NE 4,118
Adjustment upon termination of lease RIFHERFE (3,267)
Adjustment upon modification of lease BRI HE R (145)
Exchange realignment bE A% (118)
At 31 December 2019 R20196F12 H31H 6,757
Accumulated depreciation Z2iHFE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and 201841 A1H * 2018F12831H &

1 January 2019 20191 A1H -
Charge for the year FRNEHA 2,874
Written back upon termination of lease RIS %D (681)
Exchange realignment b 3 (@7)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12831H 2,166

Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A831H 4,591
At 31 December 2018 72018512 H31H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

17.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 17. EAEEE @
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or REZTEIANEER@EEREE ST W
loss is as follows: ™~
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FAT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets REMNESMEREEFRAEEE
by class of underlying assets: WeEsH
Other properties leased for own use HHEERREAMYE 2,874 -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 10) HEBEME(FHEE10) 429 -
Expenses relating to short-term leases with #RTHEIR2019F12 83183k
remaining lease term ending on or before AIAERMEEEE 2
31 December 2019 298 -
Total minimum lease payments for leases BEEEGTEZ1TRERAKE
previously classified as operating leases HEMMESE 2 ZEBE Mg
under HKAS 17 - 2,493
Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in consolidated HENReRELAEFBEHAGEESRE
statement of cash flows. xe
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iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

18. GOODWILL 18. &
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Cost and carrying amount A & BREE

— Goodwill on business combination in the PRC - R B #5454 HF g2

At 1 January and 31 December MW1A1B &12A31H 137,448 137,448

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill in relation to the acquisition through business combination
in the PRC CGU incurred in 2017 which is allocated to property
management business in the PRC and is subject to annual impairment
test. This balance comprised of the goodwill arose on the Group’s
acquisition of a direct wholly owned subsidiary, Quick Wit Ventures
Limited and its subsidiaries. (“Quick Wit”) on 6 January 2017 of
approximately HK$140,000,000 and the goodwill as taken up upon the
acquisition of Quick Wit on 20 January 2017 (an acquisition which has
been accounted for as a business combination by acquisition).

Property management business in the PRC CGU

The directors of the Company have performed impairment assessments
on the aforesaid goodwill and concluded that no impairment charge has
to be recognised. The recoverable amount of the property management
CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using
cash flow projections from financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by directors of the Company. The discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 24.2% (2018: 25.2%) and cash flow beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 3.0% (2018:
2.6%).

B iR E R

HL@BR201 7 F AL R BN S E A BB A LT
¥BGEMNNEEENEEE Y EEFEY
¥TIER  WEETFERENR - %8
ERRBEAREER2017F1 6B W EE 2
& Mt B A &) Quick Wit Ventures Limited } H
B 8 A &) ([ Quick Wit ]) #7140,000,0007% 7T
BE AR E K& 201741 B 20 B Y8 Quick
Wit (GZUEEEE A BB ETTHEBL S O
FUAR) B AZRHE -

FEYEEEERREELEN
AABIEBE R Ll B TRER G - I
RAEDERDBEESE - WEEBERSEL
Bz o Bl S REFEREATE A
BT - it B AERAAARESIER
MERFPRzMBEBEMHIEZEERE
TEA - MERETRRNHA 2R E B24.2%
(2018 : 25.2%) + MAFHEE ZH SR
S AERAB.0% (201845 1 2.6%) 2 K E{E
BT o
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RS B AR M A ()

ja =1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

18.

GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Property management business in the PRC CGU (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the property
management CGU as at 31 December 2019. The key assumptions as
adopted by the directors in the impairment assessment are summarised
as below:

Budgeted turnover — Budgeted turnover is based on the expected
growth rate of the market in which the CGU operates and the expected
market share of the CGU.

Budgeted gross margin — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin achieved in
the year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected
efficiency improvements and expected market development.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific
risks relating to the CGU in PRC.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with external
information sources.

The Group performed its annual impairment test in December 2019.
The Group considers the relationship between its market capitalisation
and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators
of impairment. This included factors such as the overall increase in
demand in property management in PRC in recent years, amongst the
ongoing economic uncertainty, still managed to have led to an increased
demand in property management business in PRC CGU.

Based on the annual impairment test performed by the Company,
no impairment loss has been provided in relation to the property
management CGU. The recoverable amount of the CGU is higher than
its carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

19.INVENTORIES 19. 78
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Raw materials =R 492 1,285
Work in progress E8m 243 1,513
Finished goods X i 842 2,203
1,577 5,001
Less: Provision for slow-moving and W R MR T B R
obsolete inventories (761) (1,249)
816 3,752
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group made a provision HZE2019F12A31HILFE » KEEER
of approximately HK$6,000 for slow-moving and obsolete inventories o B N2 3B 17 & 40 /56,0008 7T (2018
(2018: provision of approximately HK$69,000). & BE#69,000/7T) °
The above amounts were included in “cost of inventories” for the LSBT ASTFENFENAE] -
respective years.
=,
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. B E 5 R
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAT
Trade receivables FEUWE SRR 7,455 5,750
Less: (allowance)/reversal of provision for credit & : 1S & E18 (B ), BeE i m
losses (note 35(b)) (FH3E35(0)) (1,202) 13
6,253 5,763
The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit REFEDHERE - ERRHESRHE
checks on potential customers before granting credit. The Group has RREETHEEESRSE - AEBNBEKAE
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties. The HESRUINEFHIETRS  MBERET
Group’s exposure and credit ratings of its counterparties are monitored SFEASBEMEHMNERRELEFHTHE
by management. The maximum credit risk of such financial assets is B - e REEN RS EERRAE
represented by the carrying value of asset. ERRAEE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

20.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal credit
assessment process to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits of the customer. Credit limits attributed to
customers are reviewed by the management regularly. In determining
recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change
in credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially
granted up to the end of the reporting period.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at the end of
each reporting period, presented based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for credit losses:

20. B E 5 BR: )

REMERFES 28 ARBEERAE
EHERFAFHEERFPNEREERRRA
EXEPHEERE - e THEPHEERER
BIEEE R - BERKEZERFNAR
EIi2ER - AEEZEEVIARLEREER
EREHRERE ZEREEE =N ERE

TRV ERERARZERBHALINREE
EBEREFERYEKE SRR RE DT

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FAET

0-30 days 0-30H 4,767 3,911
31-60 days 31-60H 255 909
61-90 days 61-90H 411 705
More than 90 days B3#E90H 820 238
6,253 5,763

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade
receivables. Past due balances are reviewed by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing and expected to be recovered within one year.

The Group normally allows a credit period within 30 days to its trade
customers. Further details on the credit policy and credit risk of trade
receivables are set out in note 35(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

21.LOAN RECEIVABLES

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

21. EWEFK

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Loan to customers BRTFZERF 151,600 97,995
Accrued interest receivables FEULFESTFI & 1,496 683
Less: allowance for credit losses (note 35(b)) B B ESIE R (FT5E35(0)) (30,220) -
122,876 98,678

Analysed as: DA
Non-current assets IERBEE 9,000 -
Current assets MENEE 113,876 08,678
122,876 98,678

The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit
check on potential customers before granting loans so as to minimise
credit risk. The granting of loans is subject to approval by the credit
committee and repayable according to repayment schedules, whilst
overdue balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability. At 31
December 2019, loans receivables are charging on effective interest
rates mutually agreed with the contracting parties, ranging from
approximately 12% to 18% (2018: 6.5% to 18%) per annum.

At 31 December 2019, loan receivables of approximately
HK$70,403,000 were secured by shares of companies and a property
in Hong Kong. All loan receivables were unsecured as at 31 December
2018.

The following is an ageing analysis of loan receivables at the end of
each reporting period, presented based on the remaining period to
contractual maturity date, net of allowance for credit losses:

AEEDEEEE - REEERAIASE
EEETHEEESE B EERBRRE
BE - BEERBEEEEZESIE Wk
RREFREEREE  BBTHHRTKE
BHRAE AR AT AEIE o A 2019F12A318 -
FEUCE FIZ BT 4977 £ R #97 E H E BRI R UK
B - ZFEFENTFH12%E18% (20184 -
B.5%ZFE18%) °

MN20194F 12 A31H » BIWE K&
70,403,000/ L & A Bl M BB EE
IR o FTAEWE 5 N2018F 12 A31 815
BEA -

AT RERSHRIZATHHEEA DGR
22 ERRERCNBREEBIRER) REKD
#r

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAET

Within 1 year 1FER 113,876 98,678
Over 1 year and up to 5 years HBiB1FEF 9,000 -
122,876 98,678

Further details on the credit policy and credit risk of loan receivables are
set out in note 35(b).

BREREZNEEER MEERBRAE—
HIBEEMIFESS(D) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 22 Hih B IE - HERTAN

PREPAYMENTS MIE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT FAT

Deposit for purchase of raw materials HEFRM L Z12E 152 392

Rental and utilities deposits MekKEZS 420 738

Prepaid legal and professional fees BEEMEEREEER - 104

Prepaid utilities and insurance BEIERIKE KRR 350 405

Advanced payment to a subcontractor RS BEREIA 1,068 -

Others EHAh 220 269

2,210 1,908

The amounts are non-interest bearing. None of the above assets is
either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances related to receivables for which there are no recent history of
default.

Further details on the credit policy and credit risk of other receivables,
deposits and prepayments are set out in note 35(b).

ZARANE R o il & A E SRR B0
18 o FtA L SR 158 B BT BE 2 30
BIERCERREIERE o

BN EAERIE - e RFENRENE
ERRLEERRONE - FFBEHNME

35(b) °
23.BANK BALANCES AND CASH 23. RITHEBR KRR S
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Cash at banks and in hand RITREFRS 42,091 89,835

At the end of the reporting period, the bank balances and cash
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$38,197,000 (2018: HK$24,613,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank

deposit rate. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

24. TRADE PAYABLES 24. EHE Z R
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
Trade payables BB SRR 392 1,698
All of the trade payable are non-interest bearing and are repayable on FERNESERTEE WEEERKE
demand. ® e
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on AEERERERRIEZEZAHET M EN
the invoice date at the end of each reporting period, is as follows: B SRFMERBROTOT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0-30H 388 1,348
31-60 days 31-60H - 275
61-90 days 61-90H 1 75
More than 90 days #B3E90H 3 -
392 1,698
The trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled B E SERFTE B R —RARIANRNF
within 90 days. & -

Al
25.0THER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. HAth FE (S I FEET R IE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Accrued expenses FEETE R 2,955 2,522

Other payables H b fEATRUE 2,118 1,053

Amount due to a former director BN —{IRIES 2 A - 40

5,073 3,615

All of the other payables and accruals are non-interest bearing and are FrAEEMEN REARIBTAHE  LAEE
repayable on demand. SKIEE o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

26. EWAE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Short-term advances received from customers  UWENIR B &P 2 52 BRTE 708
Property management services Y5 E 1R AR TS 1,360 1,189
Sales of ICs and provision of ASIC services SHE SR B R IZHASICIRTS 331 1,543
1,691 2,732

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are as follows:

Property management service

When the Group receives the prepaid property management service
fees from customers in advance, it will give rise to contract liabilities,
until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract upon provision
of property management services over time, which are expected to
be completed within one year. The Group typical receives 3-6 months
(2018: 3-6 months) prepayment for the property management services.

Sales of ICs and provision of ASIC services

When the Group receives deposits from the customers in advance, this
will give rise to contract liabilities, until the revenue recognised (i) based
on the services performed to date as a percentage of the total services
to be performed under the relevant contract; or (i) when the customer
has accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards.

FEEWRA B BESEN MG
T~

MEEE RS

EASEIRAKIRATEFNBEMNYEETIE
RiEE - BEEANEE  EERERERE
MEEEREENBBEEOERRE AL -
HEHPR —FATK - R EE RN
s AEEEEWES-61E A (20184 : 3-6
8RB -

HESK B R IRHASICHRTE

EAKBEIRAKEIREEPMRE - AFIE
ABHAEE  BEE(REEBESHEEZA L
ERENRBEE TRENZMRENE S
Lo Bk(i)E B PR UE ) M AR E B K #)
R A LE

Movement in contract liabilities: ABHBEZS)
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
Balance at 1 January W1 A1B 2 &6 2,732 78
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of RERERK =S (REIETA
recognising revenue during the year that SHEB)ERENEBERD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (2,635) (78)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FRYEBERTEEHAS LA EE M
property management activities in the year 1,360 1,189
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FRWESHE MIRFIEZSEHE L
receiving sales and services deposits B &N
in the year 234 1,543
Balance at 31 December 127318 2 gk 1,691 2,732

All of the contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as income
within one year.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

27.LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HE&E
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TROAQFNHEES BN R EATRE
the Company’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous HIRARBEZEBYHRELERE 1652
reporting periods and at the date of transition to HKFRS 16: HEgR T &2 EAA -
31 December 2019 1 January 2019 (note 2.1) 31 December 2018
2019%12A31R 201951 A1A (K&2.1) 2018F12A318
Present Present Present
value of the Total  value of the Total  value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments payments payments
EERE BERE EERE EEHE REHE RERE
AR EE BRR BNRZEE AR BNREE I NpA
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx TET TET TAET TAT

Within 1 year 1ER 1,894 2,080 1,888 2,168 - -
After 1 year but within 4 years 1ERERIFR 2,826 2,953 4,281 4,500 - -
4,720 5,033 6,169 6,668 - -
Less: total future interest expenses & : AR ICH BF 4458 (313) (499) -
Present value of lease liabilities HEBEZRE 4,720 6,169 -
28. AMOUNT DUE TO A HOLDER OF NON- 28. B — (U FEZEREZFEA
CONTROLLING INTERESTS 2 EIE
The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ZFCAAEEE - R EW/EEDREE -
29.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 29. BRA K f#& 1%
(@) Share capital (@) &
Number of
shares Nominal value
RHOEE HE
‘000 HK$’000
T FAT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each BROIBTHERR
Authorised: SEIE:
At 31 December 2018 and 720181231 &
31 December 2019 201912 A31H 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 1 January 2018, M2018F1H18 -
31 December 2018, 2018 12H31H
1 January 2019 and 2019F1 A1 X
31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 1,397,782 139,778
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HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

29.SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued) 29. R AR f# s
(b) EZEAREE

(b) Movements in components of equity

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 70 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Merger reserve arose as a result of the reorganisation taken place
on 20 December 2011 which represents the differences between
the issued shares and share premium of MiniLogic Device
Corporation Limited upon group reorganisation and the nil-paid
issued of 380,000 shares of the Company which was credited as
fully paid.

The statutory reserve represents the appropriation of 10% of profit
after tax determined based on the relevant accounting rules and
regulations of the PRC in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
until the PRC statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital of the relevant subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be
applied either to set off accumulated losses or to increase capital.

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 16 May 2012 (“the Adoption Date”). Share Option Scheme
will remain in force for a period of 10 years effective from 10 July 2012
of the scheme and will expire on 9 July 2022.

The purpose of the Share Options Scheme is to provide incentive to the
participants. The participants of the Share Option Scheme, as absolutely
determined by the Board, include:

(@)

any employee (whether full time or part time employee, including
any executive directors) of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds any equity interest (“Invested Entity”);

any non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity.

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

30. B I AE ST &

AREIR2012F5 8168 ([HR49 B 81 1) 54k
— ISR AT B ([ IRMERT &) - BERRAERT
ZH2012F7 A10ARBI0FRER - BERE
20227 A9RE °

AR 8 2 BB IS R A KB M %
BREEMENER - BEE 8 228%E

(BREFS2ERE)BRE
(@) AEEUEAIRKE QRS A S EA EA

B EAEE(ZIRERR]) 2 EA
BE(MwEBEFBES  BHEEM
HITES)

REBEEFARBARRHAZIREERE
ZEAFATE R (BB LIFNITE
%)

AAREERKERRREFAZKER
RBIRHE MRS 2 EfAI L ER

REBEEFAKB AR HHAZIRE B
ZAERER

AASEERKE QAR REFMZKER
IR - REgEMRIT SR E
MALTHER

REBEFRKB AR REAZIREERE
ZERBIREAAEBEAIK B ABIK{E
AR EBBAMBEITEAE S 2 EH
BA R

REBEEFARB AR HHAIZIREER
AR RIS RIS R R R I B2 A
BB (B HAM) HEEAE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Share
Option Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that
the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the shareholders’ approval
in general meeting. However, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other scheme
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date of such
12-month period unless approval of the shareholders of the Company
has been obtained in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules. A nominal
consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an
option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the
option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be determined
by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the Directors,
and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price per share as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the date of
the grant of the options; (i) the average closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of the options; or (i)
the nominal value of a share.

The refreshment of the Share Option Scheme mandate limit was
approved at the annual general meeting held on 3 May 2019, based on
1,397,782,400 shares in issue as at 3 May 2019, the Company was
allowed to grant further options under the Share Option Scheme at up
to a total of 139,778,240 shares, representing 10.0% of the shares
in issue as at 3 May 2019 and representing 10.0% of the issue share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and the date of this
annual report respectively, and representing 10.0% of the issued share
capital of the Company, as at the date of 2018 annual report.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled, expired or lapsed
since 1 January 2019 and the refreshment of the scheme mandate
limit on 3 May 2019 and up to 31 December 2019. Since the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, a total of 29,030,400
share options were granted (the “Granted Share Options”), of which
15,382,400 share options were exercised and 13,648,000 share options
were lapsed. Save and except for aforesaid, there was no other option
granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since the date of adoption of
the Share Option Scheme, and there was no outstanding share options
under the Share Option Scheme during the period from 10 November
2016, being the date which all outstanding Granted Share Options
lapsed, to 31 December 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

31.OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group leased certain of its offices under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office were negotiated for terms ranging from
1 to 3 years. At the end of the reporting period, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease in respect of
leased properties are payable as follows:

31

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

AEBEREBEA

AEBERBEEMELHFHRERETHA
E o MAZHEBHERT1EIF - RIWEH
R REBIAHELEHESANEEDE
ZARRERERNTNT

2019 2018

20195 2018%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Within 1 year 16R - 2,467
After 1 year but within 5 years 1618 1E55F R - 4,515
- 6,982

Operating lease payments mainly represent rentals payable by the
Group for its office premises and a warehouse in Hong Kong. Lease
payments are fixed throughout the lease term agreed. None of the
leased includes contingent rentals.

The Group as lessor

The Group leases out certain carparks and premises in PRC under
operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 1 to 5 years.
None of the leases under contingent rentals. At the end of the reporting
period, the Group’s aggregate future minimum rental income receivables
under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows:

REMENREIBEAEEAREURETERN
WMARBEURRBENNES - BENKTY
RiEHENHREE - cHEBRB T BN
RS -

AEBEEREHEA

AEBERBLEEEE D EE TR ELY
BEEISERY% - ZEHEBRTER/IIE5F o
BEEESERIAES - RIREHR - %
ERENATHEEEHENRRKERS W
NN IREERINT

2019 2018

20194 2018%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within 1 year 1FR 2,012 1,340
After 1 year but within 5 years 112855 K 1,688 536
3,700 1,876
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RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. EAAEIE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Commitments in respect of the acquisition of a W& — B A 5] Ky AT
subsidiary

— Contracted for but not provided in the - BRTERRN G A VSRR BE

consolidated financial statements 14,989 -

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

B.REMETBFELEREBZ

H AR

TREJIAEEREREETHFELREZ
HEFE  ERERCMIFRSE - mﬂéxﬁ
BEENEBEREIBN A RENLGS
%mgi\%qﬂ“*ﬁ?%%@Eﬁ;ﬁié@)zfﬁéﬁi
E"Jiﬁﬁuwij?fk;ﬁfﬁﬁfﬁi °©

Lease liabilities

HEaE

HK$’000

FAT

At 31 December 2018 72018412 H31H -
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16 FEFRB BB 5 S 2RI 1655 18 A 6,169
At 1 January 2019 201951 A1H 6,169
Leases terminated BE4IFEE (2,811)
Leases modified 2EsTHEE (145)
New lease entered BEIFHE 4,118
Exchange difference EH =58 (94)
Interest expenses B 429
Interest element of lease liabilities paid BERNHEEAENFI S5 (429)
Capital element of lease rental paid BERNHEERSHERE S 2,517)
At 31 December 2019 2019912 831H 4,720
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

34.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed
in note 12(a) to the consolidated financial statements and certain
of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 12(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, is as follows:

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

4. BEEALTHE

() TEEEAENEH

REBETZEEABNME - BIRENH
RERa B HRRME120MEED X
NFARBEZNSBERE AMER
e MR 120 A RENE T
RRHHEENEENT

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET FAT

Directors’ fee FEEE 596 592
Salary and other short-term employee benefits & & H b 58 Hi (& B & F| 5,773 7,636
Post-employment benefits BEBR 12 1B T 69 88
6,438 8,316

Loans to related parties

The following tables disclose the loan interest income and loans
advanced to related parties for the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018:

(b) BTFERESNER

TRFFEFHZ2019%F KX 20184F12 A 31
ALFEERMNBMARIEMNEEFE

2 .
A

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Loan interest income from: KA TIETHERFEWA
- Key management personnel -FEEERAR - 647
— A controlling shareholder - —RITEREE 1,047 246

Loans advanced to: AEF TS HTHER

- Key management personnel -FEEBAB - 15,500
— A controlling shareholder - —RIERR LR 9,000 11,900

During the year ended 31 December 2019, loans advanced to
related parties are repayable according to repayment schedules,
with contractual maturity within 13 months (2018: 3 months to 1
year) and bear interest rates is at 12% per annum (2018: 12% per
annum). None of the loans were neither past due nor impaired.

Related party balance

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related parties
are set out in notes 25 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Applicability of the GEM Listing Rules relating
to connected transactions

None of above related party transactions falls under the definition
of connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules.

HZE2019F12A31B ILFE » 8 F
BEFNEFREERSFHRESE
AHEHAMN13E AR (20184 : 31E
BAZEAF)EIE - WiZFERE12%(2018
F o §F12%) L5 E - EEERE
BHAERE o

(c) BER#&ZRR
AR EERE T 2 R ERE S

HRRA B R MRS M3 25 5228
(d) GEM ETRAIKEIERZ 1Y
i A

RIBGEM LT AR IS 20% - B Lt
BRET XS T AMEXDRIFREBER
HEER °
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RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities

35.€@mIT A
() EMIENDE

AEERSHEFRNEHEERBE

(b)

as at the end of each reporting year are as follows: BREELLT -
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Financial assets SWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEN AT ENeREE
— Trade receivables - ENE SRR 6,253 5,763
— Loan receivables - BN E 122,876 98,678
- Deposit and other receivables - e REAEWSRIA 578 867
— Bank balances and cash - IR1TEHR KBS 42,091 89,835
171,798 195,143
Financial liabilities EA Y=L
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHENAGTENeRAE
— Trade payables - ENESER 392 1,698
— Other payables and accruals - HAb e AT RIA 5,073 3,615
- Lease liabilities -HEAaE 4,720 -
- Amount due to a holder of non-controlling ~ — FEfF—fI FEFEAHE R A A 2K
interests 18 - 1,300
10,185 6,613

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are described below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner. The risk associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i)

Foreign currency risk management

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
include United States dollars (“USD”) and Renminbi (“‘RMB”).
In addition, certain bank balances of the Group are also
denominated in USD. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy with respect to its foreign
exchange exposure. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposures and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

35. /T A
(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

(i)

SN B E TR
AEBESNINERE - TBE
BRI R BEE B DAY
ERETIHEMRE - WRILA
REEHEEaEET([ET]) R
ARE(TARE]) » tesh - K&
Bz E TRITERTAETA
18 » REE B AT E B H SMEE
BRATSLONE SRR - AT - B
BEEESFIINERRIEARE
R Z BN ERIMNERL

RE BN &R EMERAINESH
ENEBEERERAENKRE

end of each reporting period are as follows: (EVCENE
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FATT
Assets EE
usD ET 678 1,167
RMB AR 44,970 33,399
Liabilities =R
USbh I 3 703
RMB AR 7,255 3,598
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange fluctuation
of the currencies of USD and RMB against the currency of
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”). The directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to USD does not give rise to significant
foreign currency risk on the ground that HK$ is pegged to
USD. Therefore, no sensitivity analysis of USD against the
functional currency of the respective group entity is disclosed.

As at 31 December 2019, if the HK$ had weakened 5%
against the RMB with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,575,000 (2018: the consolidated net
profit after tax would increase by HK$1,244,000) lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain
on translation of bank balances, loan receivables and
trade receivables denominated in RMB. If the HK$ had
strengthened 5% against the RMB with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year
would have been approximately HK$1,575,000 (2018:
the consolidated net profit after tax would decrease by
HK$1,244,000) higher, arising mainly as a result of the
foreign exchange loss on translation of bank balances, loan
receivables and trade receivables denominated in RMB.

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing financial assets and financial liabilities. The Group are
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rates bank deposits and fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed rate loans receivables and lease liabilities. The
directors continue to monitor the interest rate exposure of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

All of the Group’s loans receivables are based on fixed
interest rates with original maturities in range of 12 to 27
months (2018: 4 to 12 months). The Group prices these
loans receivables strategically to reflect market fluctuations
and achieve a reasonable interest-rate spread.

The fixed rate instruments of the Group are insensitive to any
change in market interest rates.

Interest rates on bank deposits and lease liabilities are
relatively low and not expected to change significantly.

Management does not anticipate significant impact on
interest-bearing financial assets resulted from the changes
in interest rates and considers the risk is insignificant to the
Group.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position best represents
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the
end of the reporting period.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade
receivables, the management has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade balances based on provision matrix. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35. /T A
(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ili) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In order to minimise credit risk in relation to loan receivables,
loan limits and loan terms offered to customers are approved
by delegated officers and follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. Individual credit evaluations are performed
on all customers. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability
to pay, and take into account information specific to individual
customers as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customers operate. Ongoing evaluation is
performed on the financial condition of customers. In
addition, management of the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual receivable regularly to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Group consider
that the credit risk of the Group is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on deposit and other receivables is limited
because the counterparties have no history of default
record and the directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly changed for the 12 months
after the reporting date.

The credit risk on bank balance is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good credit rating.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 95.2% (2018:
86.1%) of the total gross trade receivables was due from the
five largest debtors.

The Group has 13 (2018:11) loans receivables as at 31
December 2019, concentration of credit risk as 79.5% (2018:
64.7%) of the total gross loan receivables was due from the
five largest borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ili) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

35. /T A
(b) BEEEE B £

Z RBUGR (@)

(i) EER M NRER S @)
A= B RSB IE B R AR BT
BIELTHER -

rating Description Trade receivables Other financial assets

WS ETR Bl EWE 5 R HtemEE

Group A The counterparty has low risk of default Lifetime ECL - not credit 12-month ECL - not credit
based on historical repayment records impaired impaired
and has a good reputation.

FHRIA RIFREERZS - HFHFEORERET mAEREES 12AREHEEEE - &E
BEERIF - E BEEERE ERE

Group B The counterparty has higher credibility but Lifetime ECL - not credit 12-month ECL - not credit
sometimes repays after due dates. impaired impaired

5B HFFAERSEE  EERERIIHA mASEBREES 12[AREHEEEE - &E
BEM - E*ﬁﬁaﬂ@ ERE

Group C The counterparty usually settles after due Lifetime ECL - not credit Lifetime — not credit impaired
dates with a higher risk of default. impaired

#RC HFABEGRIBARES  ERSE mARRREEES EamBE - REERE
Rk - E EEERE

Group D There is evidence indicating the asset Lifetime ECL - credit Lifetime — credit impaired
balance is credit-impaired. impaired

#5ID BERBIBHZEAEERFLEEERE mRREBREEES HaBH—EERE

B-EERE

Group E There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery.

#HRE BEBIRHEBABARENNEEE - SRS SR

A E A B B =BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 35. @t T Em
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) IR EEEZERBE @
policies (Continued)

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (i) 15E E b KR ERHE ()
The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRAJAKREALETRREER
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BREFENEREENEERR :
assessment:

Financial assets at External credit  Internal credit 12-month or lifetime
amortised cost Note rating rating ECL
128 AR BEHERE
REBEHATENSREE By et IMBIEETR A EBE B FER B8
Trade receivables 20 N/A (Note 1) Lifetime ECL — provision
matrix
JEUE 5 8RR TiE A (MF7E1) R ATE B E EEE —
BB R
Loan receivables 21 N/A Group A 12-month ECL —
not credit impaired
FEWE X A #RIA 12{A ATEEME EEE —
BEERE
Group B 12-month ECL -
not credit impaired
#H71B 12E AFEEiE B 518 —
BEEREAE
Group C Lifetime ECL —
not credit impaired
#RIC FaBHITEREEEE —
BEERE
Group D Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
#51D EamAREREEEE —
SERIE
Deposits and other receivables 22 N/A (Note 2) 12-month ECL
Re KE M FEUGRIE NiE A (PffF5E2) 12{8 AR EE E R
Bank balances 23 A — A+ N/A 12-month ECL
RITHERR TEMA 12{8 ATE A E B 1A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3B.EMITEm
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BEREEBZRBE @
policies (Continued)
(iiiy Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (i) EERERBERE (&)

Note 1: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the BEET SLEREZERMS - A
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss KECEABAMBRS
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are LEAF MM AT B
credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected EamBEHEREESRN
credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix, EBEE - REREER
grouped by internal credit rating based on historical B EHASN - AEREE
repayment records and reputation. R EREETILFHR

HFEEMEEEIE - IR
BERRCHERERERN
HEERIRDA -

Note 2: For the purposes of internal credit risk management, BEE2 - HABEERBERM
the Group uses past due information to assess whether 5 AREERBHEH
credit risk has increased significantly since initial FHEEERR B BRER
recognition. PRRERREE N -

Trade receivables JEWE Z 85

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group ERAEHEEERRERMN

applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation to o AKERAZEHREFE

its operation. The following table provides information about ARESEEFR - TRIEHERH
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are FEWE ZEFEERBRINER -
assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL (not ZEAMRBEEMBHEHRER
credit-impaired). EE(EEERE) (IR ERT
fiy e
2019
20194
Gross

Average carrying Loss Net carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
FHERE HEREE EiRRAE IRERE
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET T

Due date Ep: =

0-30 days 0-30H 1.60% 4,845 (78) 4,767

31-60 days 31-60H 2.67% 262 7) 255

61-90 days 61-90H 3.75% 427 (16) 411

More than 90 days B3E90H 57.31% 1,921 (1,101) 820

7,455 (1,202) 6,253
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

35. /T A

(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (iii) fEEERRRRE G ()
Trade receivables (Continued) JEWE ZIRF(48)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical BB ERATERMEN
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors B ATEEAF BRI 2 #E R b R
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is o W BB BB LR ALIE
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is T ENAI AT 2 RTHE M & BHE L
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant o BIREF AE] o A ARELR
information about specific debtors is updated. FHEEEEBAZEAEN ARx
ER
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the trade RAREERA  REHRA
receivables at the end of the reporting period which have HRFR8O0 B H) E U E 5 BRI T
been past due over 90 days are not considered as in default WRABEY HARSEPBEE
based on good repayment records for those customers and R RT R EEAEEGNE
continuous business with the Group. BTG -
No loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables as at M20185F12 A31H - HRFEIR
31 December 2018 as the amount involved is immaterial. BOBRFRESRNGETEE
X i Ve B o
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRERBIEME AR HER
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the #) 8 5) FE WK IE #) A A 48 B TR ER
simplified approach. FEEEBEZY -
Lifetime ECL
(non credit-
impaired)
EaARTER
FEBER(EEE
AE)
HK$'000
FHETT
At 1 January 2018 720181 A1H 13
(Reversal) of impairment loss A EE (B E ) (13)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 72018412 A31H &2019F1 A1H -
Impairment losses recognised R (EEE 1,202
At 31 December 2019 7201912 H31H 1,202

153 New Western Group Limited Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

35. /T A
(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(ili) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables
The Group applies general approach to measure ECL on loan
receivables.

In determining the ECLs for these assets, the directors of
the Company have taken into account the historical default
experience, the financial position and security held of the
borrower, and considering various external sources of
actual and forecast economic information, as appropriate,
in estimating the probability of default of loans receivables
occurring within their respective loss assessment time
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case.

The aging analysis of loan receivables (net of allowance) that

(i)

= & Rk R B R A ()
TEWES

AR — e A B R
T EE R -

REEZEEENHEHMEEER
B ARAEENMEFHZARE
BRERREEANEENEKE
KB AOB R RBEED
1B R AR TR BB TSRO R P s
ENERRYEEESBRERNIE
AIEEE R MR SOR (@A)
ARAEFRER THEQEE -

AR AR (B A FE B SR (AR 38

are not considered to be impaired is as follows: HRE ST
2019 2018
20195 2018%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHET
Neither past due nor impaired Rk R RE 122,876 98,678
Past due but not impaired BaHERRE - -
122,876 98,678

As at 31 December 2018 and 2019, loan receivables that
were neither past due nor impaired relate to diversified
customers for whom there were no recent history of default.
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
loan receivables as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

35. /T A
(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

(i) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) (iii) 15 &Rk R R E R ()
Loan receivables (Continued) JEWE (&)
Movements in the Group’s impairment loss recognised of REEFEWEREROREE
loans receivables are as follows: BEEHNT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
At 1 January 2019 7201941 A1 8 - -
Impairment loss recognised HERREEE 30,220 -
At 31 December 2019 M2019912831H 30,220 -
(iv) Liquidity risk management vy "RBEZRKEE

The Group’s liquidity position is monitored closely by the
management of the Group. In the management of the liquidity
risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

During the reporting periods, the Group financed its working
capital requirements principally by funds generated from
operations and/or issue of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

35.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk management (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturities
at the end of each reporting period for its financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

35. /T A
(b) BEEMREEEERBE®

(iv) RBELREREE @)
TR AEENSRED RS
BMEBEZANINEIIT - TRRE
BELsMAEBEIRBERRELR
B UHUAEEANRNRER
HARLERS RANBENER
TEHRLTE -

Repayable
ondemand  After1year After 2 years Total
or within but within but within  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5years cash flows amount
MER 15# 2% AMERR2
= B2 iy B5% R MBS HREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FAT TET FET FHET
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A831R
Financial liabilities SHAE
Trade and other payables BB 5 K E i EHERTR 5,465 - = 5,465 5,465
Lease liabilities HEERE 2,080 1,791 1,162 5,033 4,720
7,545 1,791 1,162 10,498 10,185
At 31 December 2018 R2018512831H8
Financial liabilities SHAE
Trade and other payables [T 2 5 R E A1 FETER R 5313 - - 5313 5313
Amount due to a holder of B —RI IR IEZ B A
non-controlling interest 2B 1,300 - - 1,300 1,300
6,613 - - 6,613 6,613

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the Group financial instruments are
reasonably approximate to their fair values.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2018 and 2019.

v) EmIENAFETE
AEBESRTAMNEEBESEL
AFEABIEE -

36. HAEE
R20184F K 2019F12 A31H » AEE I &
EMERKAEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
AR5 B 7% R A P EE ()

ja =1

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

37.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

37. R F) 2 AR R T

THE COMPANY
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
{hEsd FExT FHETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE kB - 2
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RRIRIRE (@) 150,000 150,000
150,000 150,002
Current assets mENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHT B A FI5RIA 109,083 113,269
Deposits and prepayments E& RIEMNFRIE 64 -
Bank balances and cash RITHBEIR S 78 1,532
109,225 114,801
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HAFER &R A 1,076 177
1,076 177
Net current assets EREBEE 108,149 114,624
Net assets FEE 258,149 264,626
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital A&7 139,778 139,778
Reserves fEH (b) 118,371 124,848
Total equity ExEE 258,149 264,626

(a) A list of the Company’s subsidiaries is shown in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b) Movement of the Company’s reserves

(a) ~AAFZHBARGERGARBEERE
HIEESSHER °

(b) RRTBEEZRE

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
B EE RitEE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT FHT
At 1 January 2018 7201851818 148,287 (19,056) 129,231
Loss and total comprehensive expense for  E518 M8 2T 2 4058
the year - (4,383) (4,383)
At 31 December 2018 and M2018F12A31H &
1 January 2019 201941 A1H 148,287 (23,439) 124,848
Loss and total comprehensive expense for  E518 M 8 2 T 7 4858
the year - (6,477) (6,477)
At 31 December 2019 720194128310 148,287 (29,916) 118,371
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE = 38. &R ZMIB A RF1E
COMPANY

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: AREMBARZFHBAT
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid share
registration/ capital/registered
operations capital Proportion of
Name of subsidiary MR BETRBEZ ownership interest Principal activities
HEARER fed-$:cks RARBHER FERRERL Al TEEH
Held by the Held by a
Company subsidiary
HAATF H—-EHEAR
B 2]

2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 2018F 2019F 2018F

% % % %
Megalogic Business Limited British Virgin Islands USS$1 100 100 = - Investment holding
(“BVI") ES REER
EBRUHES
([EBERES])
Megalogic Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 100 = - Investment holding
EBRUHES i REER
Minilogic Investment Limited BVI US$10 60 60 = - Investment holding
EERUHE 10%7T REER
Excellence Steps Limited BVI USS$1 100 100 = - Investment holding
EERUHES i REER
Quick Wit Ventures Limited BVI US$100 100 100 = - Investment holding
ERRUHES 100%7T REER
Megalogic Business Management Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100 100 = - Business consultant
Consultant Limited 0 10,000,000/ 7 E3 e
REICEERER
BRAR
Megalogic Investments Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 = - Inactive
Group Limited 0 BT BEgE
LEREEBRAA
Megalogic Technology Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 - - Inactive
Holdings Limited B 17T TEge
LEENEEBRLF
Easy Loan Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$80,000,000 = - 100 100 Money lending
PR EERAT] 0 80,000,000/ 7T W&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE  38. &R ZHi B A R &FE @

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid share
registration/ capital/registered
operations capital Proportion of
Name of subsidiary MR BETRBEZ ownership interest Principal activities
WEAREE gEw REREHER FERER LAl TEEH
Held by the Held by a
Company subsidiary
HAATF H—EHEAR
58 58
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 20185 2019F 2018%
% % % %
Easy Finance Assets Management Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 = - 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Bk 10,000,000 7T REER
HBHEEEEBRAR
MiniLogic Device Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$18,321,554 = - 60 60  Design, development
(“MiniLogic HK") N 18,321,554/ 7T and sales of ICs
HelRRAERAR(HAIERER]) FEt RERHESR
Megalogic China Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100 100 Investment holding
Development Limited B 17T REER
LEIFEERER DA
RALERCEERER PRC HK$3,400,000 - - 100 100 Inactive
A7](Note ()(v)) s 3,400,000/ 7T e
AR EERER
A1)
Western Property Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100 100 Investment holding
Management (HK) Limited B 1787 REER
RITENXER(FE)
BRAT
79 1| ELET 3 (Note (i) PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100 100 Property
)11 e (e Gi)v)) H AR#1,000,0007C management
services
NEERRY
71| B ET B 22 RZ (Note (i) (vi) PRC RMB300,000 - - 51 51 Property
) 1| = (BTG vi)) e AR #300,0007T management
services
NEERRY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

R B B R R M AR ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

38. A AT ZHB AR FHE @

COMPANY (Continued)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid share
registration/ capital/registered
operations capital Proportion of
Name of subsidiary HMARLR BETRBEZ ownership interest Principal activities
HEARER fed-$:chs RARBHER FERRER LA TEEH
Held by the Held by a
Company subsidiary
HAAT H—FHEL R
¥E ¥E
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019 20185 2019F 2018%
% % % %

RHNEREEERAF PRC Nil - - 100 - Supply chain

(Note (V)(v) e z business

RESEREEARA HIERER

(HI7EM)

Notes: IZHE .

()  The registered capital was HK$50,000,000. As of 31 December 2019, the ()  FEZAAE50,000,0007% 7T © KR20194F 12
paid-up capital was HK$3,400,000 and the remaining registered capital to A318 - B E A A3,400,00078 7T KR T
be injected on or before 30 March 2026. 12E FER2026FE3 A30H s Z AT A ©

(i)  The registered capital was increased from RMB1,000,000 to iy FEMEAR2018F12A31HILEFERAAR
RMB5,000,000 during the year ended 31 December 2018. As of 31 #1,000,0007C1 11 & A R #5,000,0007T °
December 2019, the paid-up capital was RMB1,000,000 and the remaining HZE2019F12A31H ' ENEERAEARK
registered capital to be injected on or before 31 December 2035. 1,000,0007T & #; T35 & fE 72035 12 A 31

A ZANEA ©

(i) The registered capital was RMB2,000,000. As of 31 December 2019, the @iy FEfEARAEARE2000,0007T ° #HZE2019
paid-up capital was RMB300,000 and the remaining registered capital to F12A31H » 2HERAEARB300,0007T
be injected on or before 2 May 2028. KR TIEE ER2028F5 A2H K Z AIEA ©

(iv)  The registered capital was RMB10,000,000. As of 31 December 2019, the (iv) FEMEZRAEARE10,000,0005T ° 22019
paid-up capital was Nil and the remaining registered capital to be injected F12A318  ENERBE NG N IBEER
on or before 31 December 2040. 204012 A1 HEZATEA °

(v)  These subsidiaries are wholly foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. v)  REBERBAE  ZEWBRARABINEGBEE D

o,

(vi)  This subsidiary is sino-foreign equity joint venture under PRC law. Vi) WRIEBRBERE  ZMBARARINEED

£
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

RE B IS 3R R MY A (48)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZE2019F12A31HIEFE

38.PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE  38. & ARIMB A RFE @

COMPANY (Continued)
Minilogic Investment Limited and
its subsidiary (MiniLogic HK)
Minilogic Investment Limited &2
P9 1| e e HB AT (HMASRESR)
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019% 20184 20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT FExT FAT
NCI percentage JEERER B 49% 49% 40% 40%
Current assets BB E 642 486 2,207 5,919
Non-current assets FRBEE 2 4 740 3,171
Current liabilities mEAE (96) (122) (2,521) (4,909)
Net assets BEFE 548 368 426 4,181
Carrying amount of NCI RS
IREE 269 180 170 1,673
Revenue Wz 629 357 7,363 16,611
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF(EE) 191 27 (3,755) (2,553)
Total comprehensive income/ 2 E W~ (FIs%)
(expense) k=t 181 1 (3,755) (2,553)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI - 2B F IF3 I 25
2w (EE) 93 13 (1,502) (1,021)
Dividend paid to NCI ST IR
a2 JRE - - - -
Cash flows from operating RELEEE 2
activities Rene 154 119 1,462 1,054
Cash flows from investing REREEE 2
activities REmeE 1 (5) (559) (1,605)
Cash flows from financing REMEEE 2
activities BEmRE - 367 (873) -
39. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 39. bR E B
The Group initially applied HKFRS 16 as at 1 January 2019. Under the REBER2019F1 1B R ERAE BTG
transition methods chosen, comparative information is not restated. WEAERIF 1657 - RIBATEEMNBIE L
Further details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in WS RERETEY - BEASFTBRE
note 2.1. B — PEIEE N2 -
In addition, certain comparative figures have been amended in order to BEoh - BRAFENE2NAFR—% BT
conform with the current year’s presentation. BHFE ISR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

40.EVENTS AFTER THE END OF REPORTING

PERIOD

On 20 November 2019, the Group has entered into sale and purchase
agreement with Chengdu Wanlifeng Investment Co., Ltd (the “Chengdu
Wanlifeng”), pursuant to which the Group has agreed to acquire the
entire equity interest of X EEIHTIEL EE R FRE F A7) (together
with the settlement of the amount due from the Chengdu Wanlifeng
to the A #B 5k 87 18 48 & B 12 B R & £ 2 A1) at a consideration of
RMB25,000,000. Upon the completion, fX#BEHTIEAL L EIRERE (T
2 7] will become a subsidiary of the Group. Details of this is disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 24 December 2019.

On 16 March 2020, the Group has entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which both
parties agreed to transferred 49% equity interest in Tian Cheng
Investment Limited from an independent third party to the Group. The
consideration shall be settled by way of set off against the outstanding
amount due by the independent third party to the Group under the
existing loan agreement, which amounted to HK$30,000,000 as at
the date of the sale and purchase agreement. Up to the date of this
consolidated financial statement, the acquisition has not yet been
completed. Details of this is disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 16 March 2020.

iR B S 3R R BT A (4E)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HZ2019F12A31HIEFEE

40. REHRKRER

#2019F 11 A20H + ANEEE HAL &R E F
BREERAR([KEEFNE DITVEE D
OB ANEEREAREK AT E L
EERBRETDANEB/RIECERLS
FREBS LR E B MELEERERE
FRRIMFIE) - RE R ARKE25000,000
T e SRR B BITER R SR AR ET
RNEEK AR EBNNBE AR - BRFFER
AAF BEA2019F12 A24BH A EF I

= o

202063160 « AEBREBYE =T
RIVEEWRE Bt EHRER BB
2 = J5 # ;& Tian Cheng Investment Limited
A9% MR IE T ALE - REENEEFEIE=
ARBIREERMHEEN T AEENARER
© 8 (R E &% B B1/430,000,00078 7T )
HM A NEE - EENGAVBmEEH -
W EIE M AT - BEAFBERART B
A2020F3 A 16 HA AL R -
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SUMMARY OF FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL INFORMATION
EFMBENBE

The following is a summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group A T ARBAD TR REXZHBREREKRES
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited %l E#HREZ AEBBER BT BEE 2 ¥

financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate: B EEABEHE

RESULTS E S

Year ended 31 December
HZE12A31BLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 20184 20174 20164 20154
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT FAT FAT
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue Wiz 62,335 76,328 75,925 50,920 29,244
(Loss)/profit for the year from 5K 5B E & %15
continuing operations H(E518), i F) (20,084) 14,521 9,865 6,827 (8,858)
Discontinued operations B4 IHR& K
Profit from discontinued R EE RIS EH
operation il - - 462 3,765 -
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(EE), w5 F (20,084) 14,521 10,327 10,592 (8,858)
(Loss)/profit per share SRR (E51R), R T
(HK cents) () (1.34) 1.11 0.70 0.64 (1.87)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
M12H831H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
20194 2018%F 20174 20164 20154
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FET FAT FAT
Total assets wEE 317,729 340,828 325,424 313,143 286,762
Total liabilities FES=NE 11,876 14,036 12,083 11,208 2,161
Net assets BEFE 305,853 326,792 313,341 301,935 284,601
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